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Tuesday, October 15, 2019
--- On commencing at 9:42 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:   Please be seated.  Good morning.

Good morning, everyone.  That is loud.  My name is Emad Elsayed.  With me on the panel are Ms. Lynne Anderson and Mr. Michael Janigan.

The OEB sits today on the matter of an IRM application filed by Alectra Utilities with OEB on May 28th, 2019, under section 78 of the OEB Act.

The application seeks approval of changes to the electricity distribution rates to be effective January 1st, 2020.  Alectra Utilities also included a proposal for addition of capital funding which it labelled the M-factor, as well as a request to reverse the outcome of a prior OEB decision on capitalization policy.  This hearing today will be dealing specifically with the M-factor proposal.

On October 9th, 2019, the School Energy Coalition filed a motion asking the OEB to require Alectra Utilities to provide complete answers to six questions which came up during the technical conference.

On October 11th, Alectra Utilities provided answers to two of the questions and suggested that they will be providing an answer to a third question today.

You should all have a copy of the hearing plan, which shows that we will deal with the motion first before we get into the rest of the hearing.  As you can see, the schedule for the three days is tight, so I would appreciate if everyone sticks to their allocated time.

May I have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. KEIZER:  Charles Keizer, counsel on behalf of Alectra Utilities.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Panel.  Tom Brett, counsel to BOMA.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner [microphone not activated]


Now it's on.  Mark Garner with VECC.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, consultant to Consumers Council of Canada.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MS. DEMARCO:  Lisa DeMarco and Jonathan McGillivray, counsel to Distributed Resource Coalition.  We will be appearing alternatively throughout the course of this hearing.

MS. GRICE:  Good morning, Shelley Grice, representing the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

MR. LADANYI:  Tom Ladanyi, consultant to Energy Probe.

DR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin, consultant to Energy Probe.

MR. MURRAY:  And Lawren Murray, counsel to OEB Staff.  With me from OEB Staff are Jane Scott, Keith Ritchie, Jerry Wang, and Lillian Ing.  Good morning.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning, thank you.  Any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Chair, just with respect to one, and that is that Alectra provided responses to two of SEC's questions on Friday.  One of the questions related to a forecast ROE.  I was advised and Alectra found this morning that that forecast is incorrect, that that's not the correct numbers.

And so people should disregard that submission, because it is in error.  And that I have with me to hand up and I can do so at any time the proper or correct ROE forecast number that is in response to SEC question D of the notice of motion.

DR. ELSAYED:  How about the other question that you suggested you would be providing today?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  We also -- engineers at Alectra worked over the weekend to go back into historical numbers and have been able to provide historical reliability numbers, excluding MEDs, for 2010 through to 2013, and we have that response as well available for handout this morning.

DR. ELSAYED:  It is probably a good time to hand it out, if you have copies.

MR. KEIZER:  I have shared these with Mr. Shepherd as well.  Maybe I could -- can I pass them maybe to Board Staff and...

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, please, thank you.

[Board Staff distribute handouts.]


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  So perhaps while this is being done, Mr. Shepherd, please go ahead and introduce your motion.
Motion Hearing

Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

There we go.  I will first confess that I did not see the answers on Friday.  They were in the undertakings, and I missed them.

So I was caught by surprise this morning, and I have just gone outside and kicked myself several times, but I am going to -- I am going to go through the other three items, and then I will come to these three answers, because they're still probably not quite complete, but I think they go a long way.

So what we have done -- and we provided a compendium of materials in support of the motion.  Do you have that?  And perhaps that should get an exhibit number.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K1.1. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  COMPENDIUM OF MATERIALS IN SUPPORT OF THE SEC MOTION.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it starts with the notice of motion, and then goes through the various evidence supporting each of the requests.

What I have tried to do is track each of the refusals to one of the four themes that we expect will be arising in this M-factor hearing, and that is on page 4 of our material, the four types of challenges that we expect will come to the M-factor.

The policy challenge, which is the first one, if you take a look at page 4 of our materials.  You don't have our compendium?

DR. ELSAYED:  No.  Sorry, I was looking at your notice of motion.  We don't have the compendium.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The compendium was given to Board Staff, six copies, and was circulated yesterday electronically.

So if you take a look at payment 4, this is from our notice of motion, page 4 of the compendium, we have identified the four categories that we think are going to be the challenges in this proceeding.  Is it consistent with policy?  Does the applicant actually have the pressing financial need that they say they do?  Are they, in effect, spending the merger benefits that are supposed to go to the ratepayers on deferred rebasing now so that we will never get them?  And finally, do they really have declining reliability, which is the justification for their high levels of spending in their DSP?

Those are the four challenges I expect you will see over the next three days.  So we tracked the questions we asked to those four categories, because that's what makes them relevant.

So I want to deal first with the financial need question.  And that is -- if you take a look at page 7 of our materials, this is the section of our compendium that has the material supporting questions A and D.  Now, question D has been answered, and I will come to that in a second.

But question A has not been answered.  And if you take a look at page 10 of our materials -- by the way, it is a 64-page package, but I am not going to go to every page, because I am just trying to make sure you have all of the context for each of the issues.

Page 10 is a -- this is an attachment to CCC number 1.  And it's a report from Ms. Butany to a committee of her board of directors on the 2019 case.

The important thing here is page 13 of the materials.  If you take a look at page 13 of the materials, keep in mind that the essence of the pitch on presentation day was:  We've been under-investing and the Board has cut us back from what we really, really need.  And now we need all of that money that we already told you we needed in 2018 and 2019.

So on page 13, Ms. Butany reports to the board of directors:  Here's the impact of the 2019 case on our approved financial plan.  That's what this table is, table 2.

And keep in mind that she's already testified that they didn't ask for everything they really needed, because they figured they wouldn't get it anyway, and then they still didn't get everything they asked for.

So she says we only got 82 percent of what we asked for.  You see the first line there, ICM revenue per decision, 82 percent recovery.

And they said they only asked for about 70 percent of what they needed.  So it was actually only about 54, I think, percent of what they really needed that they got.  But then you see the next line: ICM revenue per financial plan, 50 percent recovery.

So they actually got more than they expected, and that the board of directors approved.

So the reason why this is important is because we went to -- we asked them, so can we see this document?  If your board of directors has approved a financial plan that has a lot lower capital spending, why would we be asking the Board for more?  And why would you be complaining to the Board you are not getting everything you need?

So if you take a look at page 17 of our materials, you will see that Mr. Basilio admits his board of directors approved the financial plan, and you will recall the financial plan said we actually got three-and-a-half-million dollars more than we expected in revenue requirement in the 2019 case.

So we thought, well, either the financial plan was consciously less than need, or the real need was less.  The only way to know that is take a look at the financial plan.  So we asked for it.  You will see at page 18 of our materials that I said can we please have that financial plan that your board of directors approved.  Mr. Keizer says, no, it's not relevant.

Then again on the next page, on page 19 of our materials, we say:  Well, it is important to the Board to be able to figure out whether the company actually got less than they needed, or you are just asking for more than you really need.

And the objection was again renewed.  So the result is they've refused to provide it.

Our submission is that given that the board of directors of the company has said we can do with less, that's important information that you need to know.  You need to know what the context was in which they said we're just fine, thanks very much.

Now, we just find out this morning, I believe it is in -- no, on Friday, one of the responses to our other questions says that financial plan, 2019-2023, is the most recent approved financial plan.  And we will explore in the oral hearing when the next one is going to be done.  But meanwhile, it appears to us that it's clearly relevant and it has to be provided.

And it's not like they have to do any work for it because it is already there.  It is approved.

And I would say, to be clear, when we asked for the financial plan, we don't just want a table of numbers.  The financial plan will have a package around it.  It will have a presentation, explanations and things like that.  What we're asking for is the whole thing, because that's what's helpful to the Board.

So that is the first thing.  Our second question was based on SEC 45, which is at page 20 of our materials, where they had asked, they said:  Whatever the ICM module rules, we need this money.  So we said, in the technical conference at page 22 of our materials, so do you have evidence that you actually need the money?

They said, well, no.  We haven't filed evidence of that.  We've just told you that we need it.

So we said, at the bottom of page 22, can you tell us what your forecast ROE is for the next five years?  And they refused on the top of the next page.

So they've now responded -- they responded first on Friday and now with a new one today, but all it is is a line of ROE.  That doesn't really help the Board.

The ROE is a calculation.  It goes -- you are familiar with it.  And to just give a line, that doesn't help us at all.  We can't see and the Board can't see where's the availability of funds in here.

Obviously there is some; they're going to over-earn every year, or at least they're expecting to over-earn.  The question is -- and we know what the synergies are, so we can add that to figure out what they're really going to over-earn unless the synergies have changed in their financial plan.

Now, it may be that the financial plan itself is going to have all of these calculations.  If that's the case, if my friend, Mr. Keizer, simply says if we're ordered to produce the financial plan that will have all of this, then we're fine.  But if not, we think what the Board needs to see is not just a row of numbers, but the calculations of the ROE in their forecast for each of those five years.  They have them.  So there's no reason why it should be secret.

I mean, their basic argument is, well, no, you are going to then ask that we spend the synergies on our capital plan.  And I am not going to lie; some people may well ask for that.  But that's not the purpose of it.  The purpose is to make it public.

I think the reason why they want to keep it secret is because it would be embarrassing to them for their customers to know how much they're actually going to make.

So that's question D.  Now, questions B and C, and I am now at page 27 of our materials, deal with the policy question.  And the policy question is basically you rely on the MAADs policy, which allows you to keep four or five million dollars of extra profits, but part of that deal was you were restricted to the IRM rules, and the PCI rules say you are allowed to get ICM and now you are asking for something different.

So we're saying, well, okay, how much more money do you want, and what's the extra money for?  That seems legitimate.

They've said we're not going to tell you how much more money we want.  We're just going to tell you how much total we want, but we're not going to tell you how much more we want than the ICM rules, and we're not going to go down our list of 194 projects and tell you which ones we claim qualify for ICM treatment.

So the materials we have here that support this start at page 28 from presentation day, where Ms. Butany says to the Board:  We didn't get all we wanted in 2018 and 2019 because -- and if you see at the top of page 29, referring to the projects -- they did not satisfy some aspect of the ICM framework.

Since that time, we've seen Mr. Basilio and Ms. Butany say numerous times no, no, no.  What happened was the Board panel in those two cases simply didn't follow Board policy.  They should have followed Board policy.  They decided to go off on a lark of their own and do something different, and now we want this Board policy to come back -- this Board Panel to come back and follow the Board policy properly, which means we get everything.  We get all of the money that is not funded in base rates that we need for our DSP, every dime.

That is why there is 194 projects, including some that are less than $100,000.

And they've said if we don't get that, well, we won't have enough money to invest in our system and it will deteriorate.

So we asked them, if you see at page 31 of our materials, in SEC 43, well, why do you think you should have the benefits of the MAADs policy and not the conditions, including ICM?  And they say, no, no, no, there's two different MAADs -- there's two different ICM policies.  There's an ICM policy for everybody else and there is -- and I will take you to the cite later.  And there's also an ICM policy, a specific ICM policy, for companies that go through a MAADs transaction.  Two different policies.  And we want that second policy, and that second policy funds 100 percent of our DSP.  That is basically what they're saying in 31, and they're saying that is what the Board told them in the MAADs decision, in their MAADs decision.  It didn't.  I was there.

So we said, okay, and if you go to page 32 of our materials, we said, all right.  Please tell us the difference, the dollar difference, between the money you are asking for in this proceeding and the money you would get if you just followed the ICM rules that the Board has clearly set out in 2018 and 2019 decisions.  They said, no, we're not going to tell you that, and that's at page 32.  And their argument is, well, that is not what we're proposing, so why would we need to tell you anything?

So we went back and said, well, it is important to us, and this is on page 33, and it is going to be important to the Board to know:  How much extra do you need here?  How much extra is this M-factor compared to the ICM?  No.  We are not going to tell you.  That's up to the Board to interpret that.

So we said, okay.  On page 34 you will see -- that's question B, which is how much more do you want.


So then we went to Staff 4, which is at page 34 of our materials.  This is a list of the 194 projects that they say are the M-factor projects, and under the M-factor structure that they're proposing they get this $265 million for those projects.  If they don't do them, they don't get the money. If some of them drop off, whatever the cost of those also drops off.

So we said, okay, can we go down this -- can we look at this list and say, okay, does this qualify for ICM?  Are you claiming that this or this or this qualifies for ICM?  And you will see at page 83 of our materials -- 82, at the bottom of 82 and top of -- or, sorry, bottom of 42 and top of 43 of our materials, this is in Day 1 of the technical conference, we said, can you just go down the list and tell us which ones you are claiming qualify for ICM.  It's a list.  It shouldn't be that difficult.  Most of them are pretty obvious.

And Mr. Keizer says at the top of page 43, we're not prepared to do that.  And the reason is because that's not what we asked for.

Then -- and they go into an explanation of what they think is at issue here, and this is important.  What they think is at issue is past panels don't bind this Panel.  And therefore you are in a position to go back to the policy that they think you should have decided the last two times and you didn't.

And so it doesn't matter whether in the 2018 and 2019 case you set out some interpretations of the policy like discrete projects and typical annual capital programs.  That doesn't matter, because this time they want you to go back to the policy that they think is in place, and then that will all be in the past.  It won't matter.

So he didn't say it quite that way, but that was the point.

So we said, all right.  Let's go at this a different way, and about two-thirds of the way down -- on line 21 of page 43, you will see we went to one of the projects.  That project is on page 35 of our materials.  Facilities reno, John Street roof deck, 400,000.  And we said, are you claiming that that's an ICM qualified project?  And they had a lengthy meeting and said:  No, we are not going to tell you.

And then I said, okay, I want to go through some other examples, and they said, no, we're not going to tell you any -- we're not going to go to any examples, we're not going to tell you that.

So eventually Mr. Basilio says -- and this is at page 45 of our materials -- Mr. Basilio says, all of the projects on that list in our view would qualify for ICM based on the Board's policies.  So keep in mind that about 50 of those policies are vehicles.

And he goes on to say, I think our counsel just spoke to the notion that, you know, past Board decisions don't bind them in the future.  Certainly we found that in the 2018 decision.  Board decisions don't necessarily need to align to policy.

And he goes on to say, we can go through all 94, but it would be a waste of time, and the waste of time is because they're going to claim they all qualify for ICM.

Now, we think it would be useful information for the Board to have their alternative claim, which is these are the ones that we want ICM funding for.  If they don't want to make that claim, we're going to take the position in argument eventually, I am quite sure, that if you don't give them the M-factor they get zero, because they could have asked for ICM and they didn't.  And they can't come back and do another application for 2020 rates.

So that's the third of the disputed questions.  I just want to make one comment on E.  F, I think they have answered appropriately.  They've said rate base is going to go up over five years by 22 percent, which is sort of what we thought.

But you will see their answer to E, which they just filed now, does not -- it includes charts for SAIDI, excluding major event days, and SAIFI, excluding major event days, but not excluding both MEDs and LOS.

Of course the reason is because that is where they see a declining reliability trend in one case and I guess in both cases, but if you actually do SAIDI and SAIFI, excluding both, which is what they showed in their evidence, what we would find is that it is about flat.  We will file them in this proceeding, so they will have a chance to look at those.

So our view is that -- our view is the financial plan is a critical element.  You have to see that.  You know that it's at odds with what this application actually says.  And that's enough reason to look at it.

They should be clarifying the ROE data to show you the full ROE data, but that may be in the financial plan.  And it is important that you know how much more money they want than the Board's policy as previously stated by the Board, in the 2018 and 2019 decisions.

But my view is, if they are -- insist on not providing that, then the Board's position should be, then you don't have an ICM claim in this application, and if we decide the M-factor is not appropriate, you're going to have to get zero.

Those are our submissions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Before we proceed, can we give the responses to E and -- D and E an exhibit number, please.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K1.2. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  APPLICANT RESPONSES TO D AND E.

MR. MURRAY:  They will both together be marked K1.2.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  So now any submissions from Staff or intervenors on the motion?
Submissions by Mr. Murray:


MR. MURRAY:  Staff has a very small submission to make.  We generally support the motion of SEC in this case.  We believe the information is relevant and we're not going to go through all of the examples and the evidence that he has already gone through, but we would like to make one additional point.

In this case, you are being asked to consider a new approach to capital funding, the M-factor.  And when you are asked to consider a novel approach or a new approach to something, Staff would urge you to consider and take into account any evidence that ultimately may be relevant in your decision-making process.  Because this is a new process, and because this is something you haven't considered before, I think you should be more expansive in terms of what you consider relevant rather than less at this early stage.  That is why Staff supports the motion of SEC.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Anyone else?

Submissions by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Just to be clear, we support the motion as well.  Thank you.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  Anybody else?  Dr. Higgin?

Submissions by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.  Just to add one point, prior to the technical conference, Alectra was very cooperative in assisting us, Energy Probe, with a compilation of historic system reliability, that resulted in EP Exhibit KT2.1, to note that is without MAADs, excluding MAADs, that was done.


So then at the technical conference, we requested Alectra to consolidate all of their data on underground cable projects.  This was refused and, as I will speak to later, we spent considerable time and effort to provide that information for the hearing.


So we support Mr. Shepherd's motion.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Ms. Grice?

Submissions by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  Yes.  AMPCO supports SEC's motion as well and believes the information is relevant to this proceeding.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

Submissions by Mr. Brett:


MR. BRETT:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair.  BOMA supports the motion as well.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Ms. DeMarco?

Submissions by Ms. DeMarco:


MS. DEMARCO:  DRC takes no formal position on the motion, but would note for the Board's consideration the importance of the regulatory compact and the associated information asymmetry in all of your dealings.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Anyone else?  Alectra, your reply?

Submissions by Mr. Keizer:


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I am going to start in a bit of a different order than Mr. Shepherd did with respect to the remaining questions that are outstanding.


I am going to start first with his question relating to the impact of the M-factor, which is the differential between the M-factor and the rate that could arise if this had been an ICM application, applying the decisions that were made in 2018 and 2019.  And then together with that, deal with the identification of the ICM projects that are effectively mirror images of each other.  You can't determine one without the other, so in effect, they really are getting to the same issue.


So I am going to deal with that first.  Then I am going to move on to the financial plan question, and then I have some other comments to make with respect to the ROE and the reliability, as raised by Mr. Shepherd.


So with respect to the ICM comparison questions, I think it is important -- Mr. Shepherd has laid out what he believes this application is about, and I think it is important for Alectra to lay out what it believes the application is about.


The application is not about redoing, rehearing, appealing, reconsidering the 2018 and 2019 ICM decisions.  This application is about the fact that Alectra has done a DSP, and within that DSP is articulated a particular need which Alectra feels should be carried out and completed as part of its five-year expenditure plan in the best interests of customers, because they believe it is prudent and reasonable to do so.


The implication of that, though, is that they are a deferred rebaser, and they are in a situation where they are in IRM.


Now, they have a capital need, and they recognize and understand the implications of the 2018 and 2019 decisions;  that's fair game.  But the implication of that is that revenue they recover in rates is not sufficient for them to be able to execute the five-year plan, and they believe that they need the flexibility, which the ICM currently doesn't provide, to enable them to execute that over five years, to use it as an envelope basis, and to ensure that ratepayers are protected through the true-up within the capital investment variance account.


So the application is not an ICM application.  It is not an ICM redo.  It is about the M-factor, which is this approach, the new concept which they have proposed, to be able to give them flexibility within this context of the five-year DSP.  It's not a one -- it's not five annual DSPs.  It is a five-year program over which they need the flexibility to execute it.


That's really the essence of the ask.  It is not -- I know there is lots of questions about feelings and issues about what the 2018 and 2019 decision meant.  But obviously, we have to accept those decisions as they're stated, and therefore, Alectra has and has come forward with a new concept, the M-factor.


So it is not what we have applied for.  So why would it be relevant to do a calculation related to the rate impacts of ICM, or to dissect the projects that have been proposed for M-factor projects, and say are they ICM projects or not ICM projects.  Well, that is not what Alectra is asking for.


So it doesn't go to an element of relevance, because it doesn't necessarily advance your determination at the end of the day as to whether the M-factor is acceptable or not in the form proposed, or any variations in the M-factor that you may decide that you want to bring about through your decision.  And that is the ultimate test of relevance.


It's not whether it is expansive, as Board Staff would say.  It is about whether it advances your decision and the decision before you today is whether the M-factor is the right rate mechanism to enable Alectra to accomplish its five-year DSP, and the needs which it views are in the best interests of the customers to execute and ensure that they are rectified.


Now, the other element, though, of the ICM is that you have to also recognize -- people say, well, just apply the 2018-2019 decisions, what's your problem?  Well, because it's not as clear-cut as that within the context of the 2018 decision, which I think articulated it very well.  And that is that in the 2018 decision, it was very clear that there were two materiality thresholds.  There was the materiality threshold that was imposed by the ICM Policy, and there was a materiality threshold that was arising from the Toronto-Hydro decision, where they looked at the de minimus or smaller elements of capital investment relative to total capital investment.


And that is kind of the essence of what they are -- what the intervenors want us to do, which is go through the list and say, well, apply that second level of materiality threshold please, and why isn't it so obvious that you can't do it?


Well, I think the Board articulated very well why it is very difficult for us to do that.


I apologize; I don't have -- in preparing for this last night, I didn't have copies made.  But I am going to quote to you page 25 of the EB-2017-0024, which is the 2018 decision, as we have referred to it.


At page 25, the Board is discussing the second level of materiality in the context of the ICM.  And the Board says that:

"The ICM policy adopted the approach used in the Toronto-Hydro decision which assessed each project individually for its significance against capital spending.  The OEB therefore adopts this same approach for the ICM as for Alectra Utilities.  Amending the ICM policy to include a mathematical materiality calculation for the second test should only be done through a policy review."


Let me stop there.  There has been no policy review, and there is no mathematical calculation for the second level of materiality.

"In addition, there were no submissions on this issue during the proceeding.  The OEB has applied its judgment consistent with the ICM policy.  The OEB will consider whether each capital project proposed for an ICM is significant with respect to Alectra Utilities' total capital budget, not with respect to the capital budget by rate zone."


So in essence, the determination of the second materiality threshold is wholly within the discretion of the Board, and that Alectra is no better placed to determine what is an ICM project within that list of M-factor projects than Mr. Shepherd is.  We both have the same capability, because ultimately what it is is in the discretion of the Board to make that determination.

In effect, the intervenors are asking us to stand in the shoes of the Board and guess what the Board would do in exercising its discretion.  Albeit whether educated or not, it is essentially a guess.

So in my view, not only is it not relevant because we're not applying for an ICM, we're applying for something different.  Although it is a variation of ICM it is a starting point, and there is a variation with respect to it, it is not an ICM application.

And as well, is it really relevant to base any determination on something which is not what we're applying for on a guess?  And that's really what they're asking us to do.  Make your best guess as to what's an ICM project.

In my view, that is not something -- a guess is not something which necessarily -- because our guess is just as good as Mr. Shepherd's guess, and it is not something that necessarily advances your determination with what is being asked for, which is the M-factor.

So in my submission, we should not be required to answer questions B and C.

Now, with respect to the financial plan, Mr. Shepherd laid out a series of his understanding of the context relating to the financial plan, to 2019 financial plan, and he ties it to a funding need.

But I think what also comes out through the questions at the technical conference was that there was obviously an ICM.  It was a review of the 2019 ICM decision, and there was an understanding with respect to what was obtained and there was what was in the financial plan.

The ultimate issue is the fact that in the 2018 decision 50 percent recovery occurred, approximately.  And so as part of financial planning -- and I think this is brought out through the responses from Mr. Basilio and Ms. Butany-DeSouza -- is that the financial plan reflected a conservative measure on the expectation of what could potentially be recovered from the Board in light of what had been received in the 2018 decision.

That doesn't mean that the need doesn't exist.  It doesn't mean that you don't look at the elements of the need exists.  I think the evidence would also indicate that the need does exist in the minds of Alectra.

It is just the question of what you plan around when you actually establish a financial plan, and based upon the information they knew at the time what the award level was from the Board in 2018, it was assumed that that was going to be the basis of it.  And I think that if you want I can take you to various elements of Mr. Basilio's testimony at the technical conference in that regard.

I should also note that this 2018 -- so it seems to me that the key issue that Mr. Shepherd is on is whether or not this was sufficient funding and whether or not you had an expectation of getting more or less.  Well, it seems to me that's been wholly answered in the presentation that's been provided.  Alectra has been very transparent.  It's provided the presentations that were requested in CCC 1, a series of them, and they have been very transparent in that regard, and clearly they have articulated the level of funding contemplated in the financial plan relative to what was ultimately recovered, and that seems to be the nub of the issue for Mr. Shepherd, in my view.  It wholly answers the question with respect to what he is seeking and to delve into the financial model, which includes all asks of Alectra, both regulated and unregulated, of which much is intertwined and consolidated.

So whatever would ultimately -- if you do decide to produce it, would have to be seriously and heavily redacted because of the nature of the information which is not related to this proceeding and not related to the regulated part of the business.

But in essence, the financial model went to the issue in 2019.  This is not about 2019.  It is about 2020.  It is about the M-factor and the DSP that's been proposed and what is ultimately recoverable in rates, and the DSP reflects a capital planning basis for what the need is.

The M-factor includes a needs calculation, not dissimilar to the ICM.  And it also represents what revenue is calculated in rates.  You know, whether or not the issue is is that you have a right, if you are going to invest capital to recover, you know, and be able to afford and invest in that capital based on the revenue you receive, and you receive only a certain amount in rates based on the calculation that is before you in this proceeding.

With respect to the ROE, the question was, provide a forecast of the ROE, and the question was answered and a forecast of the ROE was provided.  It's not clear to me -- you know, Mr. Shepherd has asked for calculations, and there may be some fundamental calculations for the basis of calculating the ROE, and I haven't been able to consult with my client with respect to what could or couldn't be done, but in essence we have answered the question.  We provided the forecast of ROE.

To the extent of the nature of the calculation, the basis of the calculation, Mr. Shepherd is free to cross-examine on that response when he does his cross-examination later in this proceeding.

I don't think we need to continue through disclosure.  The witnesses will be available.  They will be available to answer the questions and they will be able to articulate the basis and the assumptions underpinning that forecast ROE as filed.

So I don't think we need now to go further and seek further information, given the answer (sic) was answered as it was asked.

Also on the reliability question, just so everyone knows, I mean, the issue there is, there was a lot of work done on the weekend to kind of pull this data together and make sure that we could have a consistent understanding of it with respect to MEDs and the exclusion of them, and it unfortunately took the weekend to do that.  We were only able to deliver it today.  But I believe that it does provide a consistent basis for what is going on, and again, to the extent that there are further enquiries with respect to that reliability or clarifications, then that is certainly possible and available, to the extent that parties wish to on cross-examination.

I also want to make one other point with respect to the ROE forecast, and that is that it is my understanding that the ROE forecast includes synergies in the calculation of the ROE forecast that was provided.  I just wanted to make sure of that, because that is the case.

If I could just have a moment to flip through my notes just to make sure I covered everything off.

Oh, Mr. Higgin's comments with respect to what was or wasn't done -- and to the extent that I am just working from memory and I haven't gone back to the transcript, but my understanding was that that was not a new calculation.  That was taking information that was on the record and assembling it into a spreadsheet for purposes of Mr. Higgin's cross-examination.

In our view, that was best placed by Mr. Higgin -- Dr. Higgin, rather, to do that and not for Alectra to do that, and it was understood that he would go away and do that.  So it wasn't intended that that was somehow an off-handed refusal.  I wanted to be clear with respect to that.

Subject to any questions you have, I believe those are my submissions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, do I have an opportunity for reply?

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, you do.
Reply Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I have five quick points.  With respect to my friend's argument that because this is not an ICM application -- or, sorry, that the applicant shouldn't be put in the position of deciding what qualifies for ICM, that would be your job, the implication of that, then, is that all ICM applications from now on will be just the applicant's DSP.  Here is our DSP.  Tell us what you will fund, please.  Because that is what they're saying.

And that doesn't sound like it is particularly efficient.  And certainly hasn't been way that the Board has treated ICMs, which is if you want ICM funding tell us what projects you want funded.

So that is the first thing.

The second thing is on the financial plan.  Three points.  The first is my friend says, well, of course they estimated 50 percent recovery because that's what they got in 2018.  Well, yeah, except that they said that they asked for less than they needed.

Secondly, the real point there is not why did you ask for 50 percent, but did your board of directors say this was enough?  Because if the board of directors said this was enough -- which presumably they did, because they wouldn't approve an imprudent financial plan -- then this Board has to take into account that fact.

The other thing on the financial plan is that my friend says, well, you know, it is a 2019 financial plan.  It is not the current one.  Well, actually it is the current one.  If you go to ?K1.2 which was just filed on the revised answer to SEC D, you will see extrapolated from most recently approved financial plan 2019-2023.  That is the one we are asking for.  That is the one we're talking about.

Finally, with respect to ROE, I want to be clear -- I will ask this in cross-examination, too, but it would be easier if we just had the calculation.  Does "includes synergies" mean we have adjusted for synergies as we are entitled to do?  Or does "includes synergies" mean the profit from the synergies is included in this ROE?

Either would be a correct wording, but they're quite different things.  If you just see the calculation, it is easy to see what they've done.

Those are our reply submissions.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  It's probably a few minutes early, but I think it is a good time now to take the morning break.

Sorry.  Any questions from the Panel?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, I just have a couple of questions that arose from the discussion, or the presentations we just had.

I wonder if I could ask Mr. Keizer is it Alectra's position that pursuant to the OEB's existing policies and the Alectra's MAADs decision that all 194 projects qualify for ICM funding?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, you are in effect asking me to answer the question which we have refused to answer.

MR. JANIGAN:  No, no, I am not asking you to look at the 2018 or 2019 decision.  I am looking at whether or not, based on the OEB policies expressed with respect to ICMs and MAADs, and as well the MAADs decision itself, Mr. Basilio seemed to indicate that all 194 projects qualify for ICM treatment.

MR. KEIZER:  The position of Alectra, as put forward by Mr. Basilio, is correct because of the interpretation of the MAADs policy that Alectra had.

MR. JANIGAN: So I take it, though, that the basis for the request for this change is the 2018 and 2019 ICM decisions.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.  The change meaning?

MR. JANIGAN:  The basis for the change to the request for a M-factor instead of ICM treatment is based on the 2018 and 2019 decisions.

MR. KEIZER:  No, not wholly. I think the fundamental issue -- and actually, if you look at table 1 of Exhibit 2-3-1, I believe, it shows the comparison between the 
M-factor and the ICM.  And one of the critical aspects of why the M-factor is needed is because this is a five-year project, a five-year DSP, and therefore there needs to be flexibility to be able to implement those M-factor projects over the five-year period, so that you can move from year to year depending upon priorities and other issues that may arise.

So that is not something that ICM would afford you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But I take it that if all of the 194 projects were applied for under the ICM and were granted, that there would be no shortfall in funding.  Am I correct on that?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know.  I don't have that calculation in front of me, and I am not aware of whether they have done that calculation.

It seems as though the -- I can only speak to 
the M-factor with respect to what the M-factor is.

I think, if I understand your question correctly, you're saying if I took all of the M-factor projects and treated them as ICM, there would be no shortfall.  Is that what you are asking?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Personally, I am not sure if I know that calculation.  I would have to consult with Alectra, and you would have to consult with them on that particular aspect.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could respond to that, Mr. Janigan, because it is in the transcript.

DR. ELSAYED:  Go ahead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Transcript day 2, page 113, we specifically asked the question:  Is what you are doing here funding your whole DSP except for the ICM threshold?  And Ms. Butany answered yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, yes.  That is true with respect to the ICM threshold being calculated on the formulaic calculation of materiality, or the formulaic calculation of the threshold under ICM.

MR. JANIGAN:  But there is that additional benefit you're seeking in terms of flexibility and certainty in terms of funding, I take it?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  That’s all of my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Ms. Anderson, do you have any questions?

MS. ANDERSON:  No.

DR. ELSAYED:  I just have one general question.  Of the questions that are included in the motion, are there any answers that are not readily available to you?

MR. KEIZER:  The one that is of most concern is if you require the disclosure of the financial plan, a significant amount of work will have to be done to go through that financial plan to redact those portions which are not relevant, or that are related to the corporate financial plan as a whole, which means ensuring that no tables can be calculated, making sure all rows and whatever else and that is my understanding, speaking with Alectra this morning, is a significant amount of work and may not be able to be completed within the week.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  But other than that, the rest of the information being requested is available?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  The only issue would be and on the ICM project issue is recognizing the decision that was made in 2018, how we actually calibrate that with respect to the secondary level of materiality.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, can I comment on that?  Why did the applicant not prepare the financial plan with the redactions already, and have that ready this morning?  They knew it was going to be contested.  They knew this Board might order it produced, and they had more than sufficient time.

DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, Alectra has been working very diligently with respect to its disclosures.  It worked diligently to try to get things done for Friday, and it was working over the weekend on the reliability issues.

It is unfortunate, but that is the circumstances we find ourselves.

DR. ELSAYED:  Understood, thank you.  Okay.  We will now go for the morning break, about 20 minutes.  We will resume at about five after eleven.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:45 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:08 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Please be seated.

Before we proceed with the rest of the items, the panel has a question or two related to the motion before we go further.  Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN: Thank you.  Sorry to torture you some more, Mr. Keizer, but just so that I understand this completely, the 194 projects that are listed are the projects that are necessary to complete the DSP plan of Alectra; is that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  The 194 projects that are the M-factor projects are part of the DSP.  It's not the entirety, obviously.  There are many projects that are underlying the DSP that are funded in rates as they currently are.

MR. JANIGAN: Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  The 194 reflect those projects that are part of the DSP.

MR. JANIGAN: Okay.  And if the current -- the position of Alectra is the current policy is continued, there will be a funding gap.  And I think in your -- on presentation day it was indicated there was going to be a 55 million funding gap between the projects proposed in the DSP and what you would actually obtain with the funding that you had.

MR. KEIZER:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN: How was that funding gap calculated?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I will give my best shot at it, but as I understand it, the way the funding gap is calculated is, there's the overall cost of the DSP and what's required to be undertaken under the DSP.

There is an understanding with respect to what is funded within the context of base rates, which takes into account the IRM.  There is the calculation of the materiality threshold that reflects and mirrors what would be in the ICM, and that then enables you to get to the point where you have a threshold, and above that threshold is what would be needed to be funded on the basis of the M-factor.

I think I have that correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I help?  Or maybe the witnesses could help, but I can tell you what the answer is.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I thought I did give the answer.

DR. ELSAYED:  Does that answer your question?

MR. JANIGAN: No.  I just want to follow up on that one.  Now, is the funding gap associated with what is expected to be received from ICMs and what is needed in the DSP?

MR. KEIZER:  The funding gap reflects what is needed in the DSP and what is -- well, again, I guess it is still the difference between what's in base rates, subject to the threshold that's calculated within the context of ICM, and then anything above that is the gap, which is not funded in rates and is funded through the M-factor.

MR. JANIGAN: Is that GAAP dependent upon what the expectation is that you are going to receive funding from the ICMs?

MR. KEIZER:  No.

MR. JANIGAN:  So it has got nothing to do with that?

MR. KEIZER:  No.  The M-factor is an independent calculation.

MR. JANIGAN:  No, no, no.  What I am talking about is this, is that there is a funding gap that Alectra says exists under the current policy if we continue with the practice of using ICMs to fund additional capital.

MR. KEIZER:  Right.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay?  And you have estimated that at a $55 million funding gap.

MR. KEIZER:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN: I guess, where does that 55 million come from?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I mean, maybe I can ask -- Ms. Butany-DeSouza is probably in a better place to answer, and then she can affirm the truth of that answer when we actually swear --


MR. JANIGAN:  And what I'm getting at, is it based on the expectations that the ICMs won't recover the 55 million?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  Given the fact that it -- well, there's two elements to it, right?  There is an element with respect to the total cost of the DSP.  There's the, you know, the threshold that's calculated, and so on that basis, the gap is there.

But it's not just simply the fact it's the ICM that is the issue.  It is also the flexibility that underpins this with respect to five-year plan.

MR. JANIGAN:  I understand that.  I guess what we're dealing with is, is there a -- is the $55 million an accurate assumption with respect to what might be the funding gap that Alectra projects if we continue with the current ICM policy, as opposed to adopting your M-factor solution?

MR. KEIZER:  And again, subject to any corrections that the witness may have, absent the second threshold for materiality.

MR. JANIGAN: Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  In other words, it is based on the formulaic calculation of the threshold and anything above that.  Not the secondary materiality --


MR. JANIGAN:  No, wouldn't it be the opposite, that in fact what you're saying is the $55 million is with the application of the second variable, the $55 million funding gap is because of the second threshold.  Is that what you are saying?

MR. KEIZER:  Not solely because of that.  I mean, I'm saying that there are projects within the -- I mean, ultimately the way it is calculated is, there is the total cost of the DSP.  There's the rates that are funded in -- an amount that's funded in base rates.

MR. JANIGAN:  I get that.

MR. KEIZER:  There is an ICM threshold calculated on a formulaic basis.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  What is not included is the secondary calculation of materiality for the reasons that we expressed.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So you're saying the $55 million gap arises without the application of the second materiality threshold?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  That's my understanding.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Can I help?

DR. ELSAYED:  Go ahead, please.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I don't know whether you have material in front of you, so I will rely on Mark to pull -- Mr. Wells to pull this up, but Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 3, page 13.  And it is Table 4 that I would like to take your attention to.

So the first line sets -- the first line of that table sets out the DSP capital forecast.  So that's the entirety of the DSP and what is required in funding over the five-year period.  After that, less the calculation of the materiality threshold.  So we have used the ICM formula as we understand it.  We have not imposed a project-specific materiality threshold.  And the funding through base rates is the 1.182.  So that leaves an overall deficit of $274 million over the five years.

So the funding gap, Mr. Janigan, in response to your question is that $274 million over the five years.  What we haven't done is taken -- so I think this is where things were getting a little confused, so helpful to clarify, I think, is what we haven't done is take that 274 million and impose a view on if this was put into an ICM -- an annual ICM, for a couple of reasons.

It's the 274 represents the funding gap over the five years, and it's tied, therefore, to the M-factor flexibility elements that we have identified in the application in terms of the five-year envelope and by rate zone and tallied against the list of 194 projects that were set out in G-Staff-4 that were included in the motion of the School Energy Coalition and also referred to by Mr. Keizer.

So the gap is not a gap after we get ICM, or if we were to get ICM now we want M-factor as well.  The gap is, we've taken what the threshold sets out is now funded through base rates over the five-year period, relative to the required capital funding for the -- to support the distribution system plan for Alectra over the five-year period, and that difference set out in this table is that funding gap to which we referred, which divided by five is on average $55 million each year.  I think it was a little confusing as between for the discussion.  I didn't want to leave it.

MR. JANIGAN:  So you haven't made a calculation of what the funding gap may or may not be associated with simply going ahead with the ICM policy?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We have not.

MR. JANIGAN: Okay.

DR. ELSAYED:  Can I just clarify one thing?  When we talk about the DSP, the Distribution System Plan includes all your capital requirements?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  Because there was a discussion earlier about what is in rates, what is in DSP.  DSP includes everything?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  The DSP is the entire DSP for Alectra, all five rate zones, including the addition of Guelph that happened on consolidation, Jan. 1, 2019.

And so we set out -- is set out on a bottom-up basis for the entire consolidated utility for the first time.

So that sets out the entire funding requirement and, per Chapter 5 filing requirements, sets it out in the four Board-required categories, and then less the materiality threshold as I have just taken you to, then defines -- we have defined the gap in funding relative to the projects that are set out in the DSP.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  So maybe it is a good time now, Mr. Keizer, to introduce your witnesses and then we will affirm them, please.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  Could I ask if the panel could be affirmed?
ALECTRA UTILITIES CORPORATION - PANEL 1

Glenn Lyle, 

Neetika Sathe, 

Max Cananzi,
Tom Wasik,
Indy Butany-DeSouza,
Natalie Yeates,
John Basilio, Affirmed.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Mr. Keizer, your direct examination.
Direct Examination by mr. keiser:


MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  I have a very brief direct examination.

Ms. Yeates, I will start with you.  You are director regulatory affairs, is that correct?

MS. YEATES:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And could you just briefly state your area of responsibility?

MS. YEATES:  I am responsible for rate applications and regulatory reporting.

MR. KEIZER:  And, Mr. Basilio, you are executive vice president and CFO, is that correct?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And could you just state briefly your area of responsibility?

MR. BASILIO:  My functional responsibilities are finance, regulatory and treasury and along with our executive committee, basically the strategic oversight and management of Alectra.

MR. KEIZER:  And Ms. Butany-DeSouza, you're vice president, regulatory affairs, correct?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  Could you briefly state your area of responsibility?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  All regulatory matters related to the organization.

MR. KEIZER:  And, Mr. Wasik, you are vice-president asset management, correct?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And could you also state, briefly, your areas of responsibility?

MR. WASIK:  My areas of responsibility includes system planning, asset sustainment, asset condition, and the capital reporting functions.

MR. KEIZER:  And Mr. Cananzi, you are president Alectra Utilities, correct?

MR. CANANZI:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And I know you probably have a broad scope of responsibilities, but if you could briefly state your area of responsibility.

MR. CANANZI:  General responsibility for Alectra Utilities Corporation, the regulated company within Alectra.

MR. KEIZER:  And Ms. Sathe, you are vice-president rate centre, is that correct?

MS. SATHE:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  Could you also describe your area of responsibility?

MS. SATHE:  My area of responsibility is to provide Alectra with all advanced planning needs.

MR. KEIZER:  And Mr. Lyle, you are president of Innovative Research Group, correct?

MR. LYLE:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  What was Innovative's role in connection with this application?

MR. LYLE:  Our role was the design, data collection and analysis of the customer engagement.

MR. KEIZER:  And could I ask each of you to respond, in turn, that in respect of the various evidence that has been filed, do you adopt the evidence relating to your respective areas as your evidence in this matter.

Starting with you, Ms. Yeates?

MS. YEATES:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Basilio?

MR. BASILIO:  I do.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I do.

MR. WASIK:  I do.

MR. CANANZI:  I do.

MS. SATHE:  I do.

MR. LYLE:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, panel.  That is my direct examination.  They are now available for cross-examination.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  According to the schedule that we have, I think Energy Probe comes next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Good morning, panel.  My name is Tom Ladanyi; I am consultant to Energy Probe.

Now, Energy Probe expected to have two panels, so Dr. Higgin and I divided up the case on that basis.  However, there is a single panel, so we are both here and I plan to start off and Dr. Higgin will then follow with other matters.

We have two compendia.  The first one is Energy Probe compendium number 1.  I apologize, I had some trouble with putting it together on the version I sent out on Saturday; I had some mistakes in it.  I sent a corrected version yesterday afternoon.

You should have copies in front of you.  Could I have an exhibit number for Energy Probe compendium number 1?

MR. MURRAY:  Exhibit K1.3. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM NO. 1 FROM MR. LADANYI

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So if we can turn to page --


DR. ELSAYED:  Just one second, please.  I am just getting the copies.

[Board Staff distribute compendium]

MR. LADANYI:  That is number 2.  You already have number 1 in front of you.

DR. ELSAYED:  It was on the table when we came in.

MR. LADANYI:  It is already in front of you.

MR. JANIGAN: Sorry.  Thank you very much.

DR. ELSAYED:  Go ahead, please.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  If we can turn to page number 4, please -- on the page 3, you see this document is attached to CCC number 1.  This is attachment 3, AFRM report 3.2.  What does AFRM stand for, please?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Audit, finance and risk management committee.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  It is dated August 22nd, 2019?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Can we just turn to page 4 now, please, the next page.

Thank you.  Now on that page, we see a table.  In the table there are three columns, and the first column is your total capital plan, is that right, as it was on August 19th?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry, Mr. Ladanyi.  I don't mean to fuss.  I have to keep going between the version that you sent on the weekend, because that's the one I took a look at --


MR. LADANYI:  You have a paper version in front of you as well.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I do.  The table is from attachment 4.

MR. LADANYI:  Is it?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  It says "capital plan funded in rates".

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Right.  But the reason I raise it is because attachment 4 was the presentation that I gave to our executive committee, and that's dated January 22nd, 2019.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, so I mixed up the pages; it doesn't really matter much.  So that would be then as it was in January 2019?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's right.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  The first column, as it was then, was the entire capital plan, is that right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  The middle column would be -- it says materiality threshold calculation.  Would that be what your rates were actually funding?  It is up on the screen, actually.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  So the materiality threshold is actually 1.182.  It is Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 3.

MR. LADANYI:  That number is, let's say, outdated.  But actually I am not worried about this.  I am discussing mainly the concept.

So the middle column would be what you thought -- and is now, I guess, now corrected -- is what the rates would be funding, which is 1.18 billion, is that what you said?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's right, over the five-year period.

MR. LADANYI:  Correct, over the five years.  Then the funding shortfall is the money you are short on?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Right.  Which is the number that I gave Mr. Janigan earlier, 274.

MR. LADANYI:  So then can you turn to page number 7, please.  And I particularly want to focus on number 2, which is flexibility.  The funding is provided on an envelope basis rather than tied to particular projects.

So based on what you just said, I get the impression that you are actually getting $1.18 billion of funding, which affords you total flexibility.  The Board is not telling you what to spend it on.  Is that right?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  The capital funded through base rates is set out through our -- each predecessor's previous rebasing applications, and on that basis certainly each of the predecessor utilities would have set forth the individual distribution system plans that were reviewed by the Board, and rates were approved on that basis.

So I wouldn't agree that we have full flexibility.  It is -- during each prior rebasing application the predecessors have had to set out their capital programs, and it's on that basis that rates were approved.

So to say what's funded in base rates, it is substantiated by a plan that was previously approved by the OEB.

MR. LADANYI:  But you're seeking flexibility to move projects from year to year, to move funds between various projects in either year, and the Board is not in the past decisions preventing you from doing that.  There is nothing in those decisions that I know of, but maybe you can tell me, is the Board restricting you from doing anything?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  The portion of funding to which you refer, Mr. Ladanyi, is -- and the flexibility statement to which you took me for the presentations that I have made, that envelope basis related to the particular projects is tied to the funding request related to 
the M-factor.

And so what Alectra is seeking from the Board is that, given the five years' worth of capital funding that we seek in support of the Distribution System Plan, some portion of which, as we have discussed, 55 million on average per year that isn't funded currently through base rates and for which we have identified the funding shortfall, it's the projects that are tied to the M-factor, those are the ones that we're looking for funding on an envelope basis.

And when we say flexibility, it really is a limited amount of flexibility.  The projects are specific.  We are not asking for additional or incremental or the ability to switch out projects once funded or once approved through this proceeding.

So the flexibility might be to advance it, in terms of years, within the five-year term or to advance one project in one rate zone perhaps to the exclusion of another project in another rate zone.

But to the extent that the project then -- if the project does not proceed over that five-year period, then we would recognize that that funding would not be available to us.

MR. LADANYI:  I understand that.  And it actually 
is -- you discuss it at page 59.  You don't have to turn to it right now.

But what I am really asking about is the projects that are below the threshold.  You have a lot of flexibility there.  You are talking to me about what the M-factor projects are, and we can get to those in a minute, but I want to know the projects below the threshold.  All of the other projects you are doing, there must be hundreds of them, you are very flexible with respect to those projects.  You already have the flexibility, don't you?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Well, I would probably turn to my colleague, Mr. Wasik, to comment on his capital program, but they're -- connecting customers is fundamental to and is a statutory requirement of the utility.

And so that comes first and foremost for sure.  And after that, certainly there is flexibility in terms of how the capital is deployed, though, as I have learned working with Mr. Wasik over these past several years, that flexibility is probably somewhat limited because there is a sequence to projects that you undertake.

But in terms of, is the Board dictating to us:  Do this or don't do that, you are right, there is flexibility for Alectra.

MR. LADANYI:  So you are in essence seeking complete flexibility for all of your spending; isn't that right?  So there would be no distinction beyond what is below the threshold and above the threshold; is that not right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No, that is not correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Oh, okay.  So explain to me what the difference is.  And you discuss the differences on page 59.  Maybe you should turn to page 59 of the compendium.  And I want to understand, what are the differences?

Can I read you the first sentence, referring to page 59?  In the middle of the top paragraph on 59, it says:

"While the investments to be funded through M-factor would therefore be those considered to be of lower value relative to those that would be funded by base rates, they are of higher value relative to the numerous other potential investment needs that Alectra Utilities identified but did not ultimately include in its capital investment plan."

So the difference between what is above the threshold and what is below the threshold is lower value.  Is that what it is?

MR. WASIK:  So, Mr. Ladanyi, when we prioritize the capital investments, we utilize the Copperleaf C55 system to score each business case based on risk and benefits.

What we're referring to there, in that particular identification, is that we've included some of the higher-score projects in base rates and prioritized those to be included.

What has been left over is the -- the other projects that need to proceed but may not have a same high score as the ones that are in base rates, and those are the ones that have been identified for the M-factor project listing.

MR. LADANYI:  So if I understand correctly what you have said is that the threshold actually identifies the really important projects are below the threshold.  But the ones that are not so important and they're on, let's say in my description, kind of nice to have if you can get the money, are above the threshold.  Would that be right?

MR. WASIK:  So, Mr. Ladanyi, I would not agree with that.  All the projects that we identified in the DSP are important and need to proceed.

What this says in this statement is that prior to us finalizing the DSP through our selection of projects, we already removed and deferred other projects during our optimization process.

So when we put together the DSP, all of those projects were identified as important and need to be moving forward. We included in base rates the projects that scored higher through our optimization process, and then what was left over was other projects that needed to moved forward.  We just, we didn't have sufficient amount of funding to do so in base rates.

MR. LADANYI:  So if we can turn now to CCC number 9, which is on page 9 of the compendium.  And there CCC in part A asked you for a list of M-factor projects.  And in attachment 1 you provide them.  If you can turn to page 11 now, please, for a list of projects.

And I am not going to take you down that list.  It would take a lot of time.  People can read it on their own.  But kind of halfway down the page you can see the project Mr. Shepherd mentioned this morning, which is the project 150666.  "Facilities 2019 reno, John Street roof deck, employee breakout area, rooftop, green space, $400,000."  It is very fine print.  Maybe you could blow it up on the screen.

I think you have gone past that.  It is on page 11 of the compendium, which is the first page of the table.  It is the project number 150666, I believe.  "Facilities 2019 Reno, John Street roof deck, employee breakout area, rooftop green space."

MR. WASIK:  I have it, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, you do.  Very good.

Because I know this stands out and Mr. Shepherd pointed it out, and we discussed it before.  But I am trying to understand, number one, why do you need flexibility about that project?

Secondly, how does that project affect reliability, which is another reason that you need the M-factor projects?

MR. WASIK:  So, Mr. Ladanyi, there are a multitude of different reasons why specific projects have been identified.

In the DSP, we identified the various different benefits and risks associated with projects, and reliability is just one of many components we take into consideration.

This specific project relates to a need to renew the roof at the John Street office, which is located in Hamilton.  And Alectra has examined the opportunity to, when renewing that roof, to move to a new practice, which is convert it into a green space.

So the need is not actually driven by reliability.  It is driven by the need that the roof is now deteriorated and needs to be replaced, and is being replaced using a new environmentally-sensitive and sensible manner.

MR. LADANYI:  I am not going to argue about this.  We can discuss it further in our argument.

If you go down to page 150813, fleet 2024, central south replacement SUV, $100,000.  So again, how does this affect reliability?  And why do you need the flexibility regarding this SUV?

MR. WASIK:  So, Mr. Ladanyi, as we explained in the technical conference, we've included the projects with the higher scores into the base rates.

And what was left over is required, but essential investments, which include fleet.

Alectra Utilities utilizes fleet assets in order to perform the work, in order to perform the inspections, to travel to particular job sites, to go to meetings with customers.  So the vehicles have been identified as needed to be renewed and replaced, in order for those particular functions to work.

But to your specific question, how does it impact reliability, as I have explained from the day-to-day operations of the business, we do need to go to sites.  We do need to go to meetings.  We do need to inspect the assets.

All of those enable us to be able to properly identify, as well as complete the work that is needed to be done in the field.

MR. LADANYI:  I am sure you would have the same comments for the projects right below that one, 150797, fleet 2022, central south, replacement SUV, another $100,000.

You would have the same comments, so you don't need to repeat them -- unless you have different comments.

MR. WASIK:  That comment is also true for other light vehicles.  But it is also true for some of the heavy-duty vehicles, like bucket trucks, pickup trucks and the various other vans and vehicles and trucks that are used to complete work.

MR. LADANYI:  In your earlier answer, you mentioned something called a score.  What does the word score mean?  What does that mean in your answer?  Score for what?  Who is doing the scoring?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Ladanyi, as we explained in the DSP section 5.4.1, page 336, Alectra Utilities develops business cases for all of the projects that are included in the DSP.

In evaluating the risks and benefits, we utilize a common platform for all the projects, which include both risks and benefits, they include financial elements, reliability, safety, compliance, customer service, environment, regulatory, people and employee perception and innovation as those particular measures.

Those measures are then quantified and calculated during the evaluation of each business case, and each business case is scored in the Copperleaf C55 system.

MR. LADANYI:  So you put all of these numbers, some of them some kind of -- not particularly objective, but anyway, I won't question them, into this black box and out pops a score, is that right?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.  Excuse me, no.  The score doesn't pop up.  The software is then used to develop a portfolio of optimized projects and the optimal value in terms of implementing those particular projects.

MR. LADANYI:  Later on Dr. Higgin will explore this Copperleaf system, and I won't go much beyond it, except that you are actually asking the Board to essentially trust Copperleaf for its decision-making.

MR. WASIK:  No, that is not the case, Mr. Ladanyi.  As we identified in our application, the implementation of the Copperleaf C55 system and the development for a business case for every project is a leading practice, and one of the most thorough approaches to take to develop a comprehensive portfolio solution.

It is a tool that guides Alectra and allows us to properly evaluate investments in fleet against investments in system renewal.  So you can properly compare a project that relates to replacing a bucket truck with replacing a pole line.  And that allows us to be consistent and uniform, not just across the various investment categories, but also across all of our service areas.

MR. LADANYI:  There is currently no exhibit -- certainly I don't recall it -- which shows scores for various projects that came out of Copperleaf.  For example, this table that we were just referring to, is there an exhibit that shows the scores that came out for each project?

MR. WASIK:  So we did provide Exhibit B of the DSP, which includes the business cases.  I believe that the business cases include all of the various different quantification of benefits and risks associated with the material projects.

MR. LADANYI:  If the Board in its decision decides that maybe there's some merit to what you are asking, but we really don't want to approve all of these projects, how can the Board assess which ones they should approve and which ones they should not approve?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Mr. Ladanyi, we've set out in our application all of the business cases in support of all of the projects that are tied to the DSP.

Those business cases also exist or include the 
M-factor projects as well.  We have provided a robust set of Information.  We wouldn't presume to put ourselves in the Board's position, in terms of what will proceed and what will not proceed.

But as it stands, from an Alectra Utilities' perspective, certainly all of the projects that we have put forward, recognizing customer engagement in support of our application and having to reduce or change the capital requirement as a result of that customer engagement, beyond that, we would leave it to the Board.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Can we turn to page 62 of my compendium, please?

This is page 8 of G-Staff-9, which I believe is your response where you summarize what this case is about.  I am sure that other intervenors will take you to the various pages here.

So I am on page 8 of this, which is compendium page 62, and there in line 18, you have a highlighted title ""No approval or partial approval of M-factor funding will adversely impact reliability."

And it says:  "In the event that the OEB does not approve the proposed incremental capital funding through the M-factor", and so on.  I don't want to read everything.

But the impression I get is that your request for 
M-factor approval is all or nothing, and you would not be satisfied with a partial approval.  So the Board, therefore, should not really look through those business cases because it is really all or nothing, is that right?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No, Mr. Ladanyi, that's not correct.  We've put forward the list of projects, a pretty big list of projects for a five-year distribution system plan for five rate zones, effectively for five predecessor utilities now consolidated into Alectra Utilities.

This isn't about all or nothing.  It is about a recognition for the capital program that we need to get underway and the funding requirement that is tied to executing on that capital program.

As my colleagues, Mr. Wasik and Mr. Cananzi, indicated last week at the technical conference, we discussed -- and I am sure we will discuss again today -- the potential snowplow effect of a lack of capital funding or sufficient level of capital funding, and certainly that is referenced in the slide reference in the -- a few lines later in the same response, KP1.1.  So this was slide 24 from the presentation day and is also included in the pre-filed evidence.

But we have set out where the trajectory of renewal needs lies, and a huge amount of this capital program is tied to underground cable renewal, which is all coming due across several of our rate zones for Alectra Utilities in its entirety.

So that is what I am saying here in this paragraph on no approval or partial approval, that we recognize that we've taken the time to undertake the heavy lifting of asset condition assessment.

We've got a full inventory of our assets and the condition of those assets and particularly the trajectory of the age of and deterioration of those assets.

And it is in response to that that we are indicating that we need to get on with the plan, and the fact is that the plan over these five years needs to be executed, and likely the same problem will persist for the foreseeable future.  Certainly I am not the engineer on the panel, and others could correct me, but -- or affirm that these conditions on needing to replace the assets aren't something that we can solve in its entirety in these first five years of Alectra or first five years of Alectra's first DSP.  But if we don't get it underway, then we will get to a point where we can't even keep up any more.  And certainly the third-party reviewer of our DSP, Vanry, had indicated the same in their report.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So I conclude from your answer that you expect the Board to go through that entire list of projects if they want to get partial approval and approve some and not approve some and also to read all of your business cases.  Is that what you expect?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I'm sorry.  Are you suggesting that the Board doesn't read my application?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, I don't know what -- I am just asking you to confirm.  I think it is quite a task for them to study all of this, and my sympathies to them, but anyway, so you are expecting the Board to make its decision on your list on this large number of projects they would have to assess.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Third time is a charm.

It's our expectation that we have filed a full, complete, and robust application.  Your question to me begs the question, well, if I didn't file the business cases then how would the Board be in a position to review and approve or assess the merit of the projects?

So we have filed a full body of evidence in support of our projects based on the Board's filing requirements and as set out in this Distribution System Plan, and beyond that I am not sure I can help you further, Mr. Ladanyi.  My expectation is that we are in the Board's hands.

MR. LADANYI:  Just one more question on the subject and then we will switch subjects.

In a typical ICM application the Board would have maybe two or three projects to assess.  So they would not have any difficulty in studying those projects at length.  But there is an awful lot of projects here, and I am just wondering, how did you see this playing out?  What would you expect the Board to be doing with all of this information?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Mr. Ladanyi, let me start with, this isn't an ICM application.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we know that.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We have a Distribution System Plan.  We have capital that is funded through base rates, and beyond that we have funding requirements for the remainder of the Distribution System Plan in order to properly execute it.

And the 200 and $55 million per year on average that we have identified, that is a significant gap.  And so we take it seriously, and we've substantiated that funding requirement by the projects that we have put forward.

So in terms of how I see this playing out, I would -- we have put forward a funding proposal, the M-factor, to address our particular circumstances.

Upon consolidation, certainly in the MAADs policy and in the MAADs Handbook, those two policy documents make clear that during the rebasing deferral period one of the key concerns that the Board identified, one of two key concerns that the Board identified, was distributors' concern for ongoing capital needs during the rebasing deferral period.

And so, I mean, I can quote at page 8 of the Board policy document, which I am referring to the March 2015 document, that they're concerned, that is, distributors' concern is that if capital additions cannot be incorporated into rate base, the shareholders rate-of-return would diminish and there would be impacts on financing capital investments.  And certainly that is what the Board had identified.

Then subsequently on page 9, under OEB policy, the Board indicated that a distributor may now apply for an ICM that includes normal and expected capital investments.

So what we've done in this application is set out those capital investments.  They're tied to our Distribution System Plan, substantiated by the Distribution System Plan, and so in terms of what we would expect, we're identifying that we have capital funding requirements over the five-year period.

So rather than come forward with one application each year, we have brought forward the funding requirement in one application in its entirety.

And notwithstanding that this isn't an ICM, Mr. Ladanyi, there have been a variety of ICM applications, a variety of capital funding applications put before this Board, and they have varied from one project to many.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  I will take that answer.

Could you turn now to page 15, please, of the compendium, which is Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 3.

In part A we asked a simple question:  Does Alectra agree or not that the current application seeks approval of a custom IR plan?  And in your answer you were directing us to look at School Energy Coalition No. 22.  I have read it.  I don't want to take you there.

Can you just give me a simple answer?  Is this a custom IR plan or not?  yes or no?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I was going to pull up a reference, but the answer to your question is, no, this isn't a custom IR.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Let's save time, because this is a long hearing, and I am at the front end of the hearing, so I don't want to take up too much time.

Can you turn to page 19 of the compendium.  And the previous page, page 18, tells us what this page is from.  It is from a July 12th, 2018 Ontario Energy Board filing requirements for electricity distribution rate applications.  Chapter 3, incentive rate-setting applications.

And on page 19 there are three columns.  Price cap IR, custom IR, and annual IR index.  So Alectra, according to you, is where?  Which column are you in?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Price cap IR.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  And price cap IR allows you to apply for an ICM, and it also allows you to apply for an ACM if you are rebasing; is that right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Well, what this table doesn't set out is if you are on a rebasing deferral period.

And so I think you need to -- and we have relied on a number of different attachments in response to Energy Probe number 3, but you also need to then look at the MAADs policy and the MAADs handbook, which are also attachments to this application, which indicate that a consolidating distributor during the rebasing deferral period may seek incremental capital funding.

And that is what we are doing in this application, an IRM application plus incremental capital funding.  We have not called it an ICM, because it is not an ICM.  It is slightly different from that.

MR. LADANYI:  You are calling it an M-factor, and there is nothing actually under price cap IR that I can find that has something called an M-factor.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  There is nothing in this table or in the Chapter 3 filing requirements that speak specifically to a consolidating distributor under price cap IR during a rebasing deferral period.  No, this table doesn't set out this specific circumstance, and we have spoken to the uniqueness of Alectra's situation.

MR. LADANYI:  I don’t want to get into a debate here.  Uniqueness causes you to provide a customization of the ICM, if you like.  I know you don't want to call it custom, but that is what you are really doing, isn’t it?

You are trying to customize ICM.  You're taking some elements of the ICM rules, and then you are modifying them to suit your unique circumstances.  Isn't that what you are doing?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We started with the ICM, for sure, and I have provided a comparative table to ICM in the pre-filed evidence.

And we're, for efficiency’s sake, seeking five years' worth of funding tied to the Distribution System Plan. But our base rates are set under price cap IR.

MR. LADANYI:  So what you are saying is this is similar to filing 100-plus ICMs. I don't know what the total number is.  It is a large number, nevertheless.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We have been clear that there are 194 projects.  So there are 194 projects split over five years.  That's what we filed for.

MR. LADANYI:  All right.  Let's go to page 20 of the compendium, which is the next page over, and there -- I wanted to ask you, would ACM allow you the flexibility that you are seeking, if you filed it?  I know you did not file for an ACM.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  First, an ACM is only available to a rebaser.  So advanced capital module does not apply to Alectra.

But in fact, if I may elaborate -- the answer to your question is no.

But if I may elaborate, and perhaps this is helpful, my understanding is if a distributor is filing a rebasing application and they seek the advanced capital module, then subsequently in the year they bring forward the ICM rider, they have the opportunity also to -- if their forecast has changed if their forecast is different, 30 percent different, they can seek -- they can put forward that additional evidence and they can seek that additional funding at that time from the Board.

In fact, what we've put forward is far more restrictive than that.  It has the ten percent deadband as set out in the ICM formula.  But we've also restricted ourselves to the list of projects that are set out in that M-factor list, and they are tied to the specific rate zones.  And we have imposed a capital investment variance account in order to true-up against the capital that's invested over that five-year period.

So notwithstanding that ACM is not available to us, in fact what we are seeking is far more restrictive on a project basis.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you for that answer.  I won't argue it.

Now in part -- if you go back to page 15, which is your response to Energy Probe number 3, we asked you in part C:
"In support of Alectra's position set out in Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 3, page 6, please provide the relevant extracts of the Board's guidelines and filing requirements and precedent decisions."


And as I explained to you during the technical conference, relevant extracts would be a relevant passage from a text.

In the response to this, you filed 440 pages of material, which is a lot.  And I actually gave you, as you will recall, an opportunity to withdraw it and answer and file relevant extracts only, but you declined.

So we are going to go through some of these
extracts -- I had to go through them, of course -- and ask you some questions about them.

So if we can now go to page 21, please.  It says in the second paragraph, inside the table, it says:
"Minor expenditures in comparison to the overall capital budget should be considered ineligible for ACM or ICM treatment."


Are you saying that you don't agree with this?  Or do you agree with this?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  So you are providing me with the extract from --


MR. LADANYI:  Your answer.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, I understand that.  Actually, let me start by saying -- and I think it is important that I offer the following, Mr. Ladanyi-- that I didn't just provide 400 pages to be difficult, or my intention -- sorry, my intention was not to be difficult.

The thing is that these Board policy instruments, they can't be read as an extract of a paragraph here or a paragraph there.  In many instances, you need to read them from beginning to end in order to have a full appreciation for the policy that is set out in that document.

Then you need to read the subsequent document, and read it in its entirety.

So in offering those elements or these several attachments, in fact it was to be helpful, though I can understand that greater specificity may be helpful and I am happy to do that with you now.

Regarding the paragraph in question, "minor expenditures in comparison to the overall capital budget", we don't disagree with that.  However, this is in the context of an ICM application and, as we've set out in our evidence, the aggregation -- as we set out on presentation day, which is part of our evidence of course, and then in the list of projects that we've put forward in the M-factor listing, the 194, as you can see, they very quickly add up and they are impactful in comparison to Alectra's overall capital budget.

And the continuous denial of that funding has an impact, and culminates in the snowplow that Mr. Wasik has described to you last week.

MR. LADANYI:  It is in numerous places in your evidence so -- we know about snowplow.  I have to correct you.  Page 24 and also - which is on page 21 of my compendium is really from the Board's filing requirements issued just over a year ago.  So it is not some stale old decision, it is actually quite recent.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I don't disagree with that, but it is in the context of ICM.

MR. LADANYI:  So that part of ICM doesn't apply to you.  You're saying you like some parts of ICM, but you don't like that part.  And this is in materiality, which is a section where the Board describes what is material.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Mr. Ladanyi, we have specifically said that we haven't gone to a project level of materiality threshold.

And it's not about liking or disliking, so I would like to be clear on that.  This isn't about likes and dislikes.  This is about capital funding requirement -- our capital funding needs and what is available to us, and therefore the capital funding that we are seeking.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Can we go to page 22 of the compendium?  It is from the same document on filing requirements.

Bullet point 3, which I highlighted although it doesn't show too well on the screen, it says:   "Justification to amounts being sought directly related to the cause which must be clearly outside of the base upon which current rates are derived."


So are you saying that your justifications for the 
M-factor projects are inside the base, or outside the base, upon which current rates are derived?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  They are outside the base of which capital funding is available.

MR. LADANYI:  So these are projects that could not have been contemplated when the base was set.  Isn't that right?  That is what outside the base means.  So they're not in the normal course of operation of Alectra Utilities?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Mr. Ladanyi, the current base on which Alectra's rates are set across the five rate zones goes as far back as 2013 for the Enersource rate zone, comes all the way to the current 2019 for Horizon Utilities' rate zone, which was unique insofar as it was on a custom IR rate plan up until this year.

But even in the case of Horizon Utilities, our distribution -- Horizon Utilities' Distribution System Plan would be expiring at the end of this year and another distribution system plan would be required.

Similarly -- or the same is true for Guelph.  The DSP expires in 2019.  Enersource, we filed -- Alectra Utilities filed a DSP two years ago, 2018, but had identified in that proceeding that this was interim because we were going to file a consolidated Distribution System Plan.

So in many instances, yes, this DSP and the capital funding requirements are outside of or beyond the last rate-setting term.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, thank you.

Can you turn to page 12.  Sorry.  Page 24 of the compendium.  Which is in the same document.  And there are three points there that the Board makes in this filing requirements.  One is that minor expenditures in comparison to the overall capital budgets should not be considered eligible for ICM treatment.

Do you see that?  You're saying you actually don't like that one.  You think that all kinds of money or expenditures if they add up to a lot should be eligible.  Is that what you are saying?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I am not saying that if they add up to a lot.   What I am suggesting to you, Mr. Ladanyi, is that they do add up to a lot, that the minor expenditures or the expenditures that we have been denied in the past add up, and the expenditures that we have identified in this capital program, they add up.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So point 2, a certain degree of project expenditure over and above the threshold calculations expected to be absorbed within the total capital budget.

So are you absorbing anything within the total capital budgets that is above the threshold?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Mr. Ladanyi, one, again, this is about the ACM or ICM, and we are very specifically saying we're not filing that.

That being said, that being said, there is the 10 percent dead band already included.  The ICM formula that we've adopted as the basis for the M-factor calculation includes a growth factor.

There are several parameters that already require the utility to absorb a degree of fluctuation.  On top of that, we have included a capital investment variance account, and on top of that what we're seeking is the projects, as identified in this application, we're not suggesting that we can substitute another one in if it comes up or if we don't do it that we still get to keep the funding.

So in terms of the over and under, yes, we have accounted for that, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  Have you seen part 3?  And we discussed this already:  The project amounts being proposed for recovery should be significant within the context of the distributor's overall capital budget.  So I will leave that for now.

And let's go to page 27 of the compendium.  This document is the -- what you referred to a few minutes ago.  It is the MAADs handbook issued January 19th, 2016.  And the handbook for electricity distributor and transmitter consolidations.  And page 27 -- it is actually page 17 of the document.  It says:

"To encourage consolidation, the 2015 report extended the availability of ICM for consolidating distributors that are on the annual IR index, thereby providing consolidating distributors with the ability to finance capital investment through the deferral period without being required to rebase earlier than planned."

And you are doing that, aren't you?  You are in a deferral period?  But you have decided you no longer like the ICM, and you are proposing an alternative.  Would that be right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  At the risk of repeating myself, Mr. Ladanyi, this isn't about liking.  It's about having a capital funding need and seeking capital funding to support that need.  And that is set out in multiple spots in the Handbook and in the March 15th MAADs policy.

You have taken me to page 17.  I could take you also to page 13, where about a third -- maybe third line of the second paragraph on the page, early termination or extension of selected deferred rebasing period, the OEB has allowed -- sorry, I should let Mr. Wells catch up.

So that is the January -- pardon me, the January 19th handbook, page 13.  No.  It is page 13 of the -- are you in the 2016 handbook?

MR. WELLS:  I am.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Okay.  So you're higher -- sorry.  Can you go higher up on the page?  There we go.  So under "early termination", that section:

"The OEB has allowed for deferred rebasing period to eliminate one of the identified barriers to consolidation."

So one of the barriers was the time for the transaction for recovery of the -- to consolidate and do the transaction -- transition.

And then the second one was not requiring us to come in early, which is on page 17.  As you have taken me to:

"ICM now available for prudent investments that fit within the incremental envelope, not just expenditures that are unanticipated or unplanned.  To encourage consolidation, the 2015 report extended the availability of ICM."

Skip down two lines:

"Consolidating distributors with the ability to finance capital investments during the deferral period without being required to rebase earlier than planned."

MR. LADANYI:  You did bring up the early termination of the deferral period.  Isn't it true, at least that is my interpretation of the rules, is that if you were in financial difficulties, if you could not really run the utility, you could apply for early termination, and the Board will certainly grant you that.  I can't imagine a situation whereby the Board would prevent you from applying for early termination.  Is that right?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I expect that they would, Mr. Ladanyi.  They wouldn't allow a utility to suffer.

However, it's very clear throughout both the MAADs policy and the MAADs Handbook, 2015 policy, 2016 Handbook, that the OEB has specified on more than one occasion that it is not the intention to put distributors in -- a consolidating distributor in a position of having to come in early because it couldn't fund capital.

MR. LADANYI:  I am mindful of the time, so I will skip some of my questions.

So elsewhere in your response to Energy Probe No. 3 you attached a number of decisions.  On page 34 I think you attached decision EB-2017-0024.  And there, I just attached some pages for it for example.  On page 35 of the compendium the Board in the first sentence seems to agree with you.  And then in the start of the second paragraph on page 35 there's a disagreement.

So there's some parts of these decisions they agree with.  It is not that the Board is making it very difficult for you to apply for ICMs and the Board is turning you down everywhere.  It is, the Board approved some projects and doesn't approve other projects.  Isn't that what normally happens?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  In the decisions, the Board has indicated that typical projects wouldn't be funded in the MAADs policy and the MAADs Handbook, it says that normal and expected capital will be funded.  What we're seeking is the approval of the Distribution System Plan, and the funding to support that plan.

MR. LADANYI:  Without taking you to every project, let's go to page 42 of the compendium.  And there in the middle of the page, it says: "ICM funding is not available for typical annual capital programs."


And the project that they are discussing here is a subdivision rebuild, which is on the previous page, and that is another subdivision rebuild below that.

So are the subdivision rebuilds part of the M-factor application?  Are any subdivision rebuilds there?

MR. WASIK:  So, Mr. Ladanyi, the notion of a subdivision rebuild was a practice utilized by the predecessor, Enersource, in that particular application that you are referencing to.

Since that time, Alectra has revised and updated its practices to be consistent across all rate zones.  These particular projects have now been rescoped and redesigned as being underground cable rebuilds.  So there are some underground cable rebuilds in the M-factor listing.

MR. LADANYI:  So you are not calling them subdivision rebuilds any more, but they are the same projects, are they?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Ladanyi, as I explained, there are differences in terms of our approach to managing these particular projects, so there are some subtle differences. But generality, they address the underground system, but they are approached slightly differently than in the past.

MR. LADANYI:  I don't have the time to take you to every subdivision rebuild that the Board has turned down for ICM.  I would just like to know are some of them back as M-factor applications, even though they have been previously turned down by Alectra -- by the Board?  After being turned down by the Board, did you actually proceed with those projects or not?  Or did you put them in front of a snowplow to essentially bring them to this proceeding as different projects, now renamed as cable replacements?

MR. WASIK:  I'm sorry, Mr. Ladanyi, I have lost track.  There's a few questions in that...grouping.

MR. LADANYI:  Let's make it -- let's make it simple.  Every time the Board turned down a subdivision rebuild, what did you do?  Did you not proceed with the project, or did you proceed with the project?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Ladanyi, we explained in our response to a BOMA undertaking that in some cases, we had to proceed with specific projects and then had to defer other particular projects because the urgency to proceed with that renewal required us to do so.

What I wanted to maybe clarify here is that even if the project isn't funded, the need doesn't go away.  The need remains and still needs to be addressed.

So those cables continue to be managed and repaired as necessary.  But the replacement of that particular deteriorated cable is still there and has to be considered in future plans.

MR. LADANYI:  I am going to ask you for an undertaking now, which is that could you produce to me a list of projects that were previously turned down by the Board that are now included inside M-factor application?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We can give you that undertaking.

MR. LADANYI:  Can we have an undertaking number, please?

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J1.1. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PRODUCE A LIST OF PROJECTS PREVIOUSLY TURNED DOWN BY THE BOARD IN PREVIOUS DECISIONS WHICH ARE NOW INCLUDED IN THE M-FACTOR APPLICATION FOR 194 PROJECTS.


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Can we just repeat the undertaking requirement?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  I would like a list of projects turned down by the Board as ICM projects in previous decisions which are now included in your M-factor application for your 194 projects.

Now they could be under different names and as we just heard, you have renamed them now.  They could be broken up into different sections.  I don't know what they would look like specifically.

I assume if there are some, and we just heard there are some, you can sort it out and give us the dollar value and a description of what they are.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sure, Mr. Ladanyi.  I just want to clarify, however, that what Mr. Wasik said was that we had revised our approach.  It's not that we just renamed projects and resubmitted.

MR. LADANYI:  Sure.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Thank you.

MR. LADANYI:  Let's go to page 51 of the compendium.  On top of the page, there is the Board's decision on the leaking transformers -- you will recall it from only a few months ago -- and the Board approves your request for ICM.  Do you see that?

My point of drawing your attention to this is the Board has not been particularly harsh with you.  The Board has been approving your ICM projects and some, in my mind, were very borderline projects like this one.  The Board has been quite lenient with your applications; it has been generous.

So you were happy when you got this approved, didn't you, the leaking transformers project?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Mr. Ladanyi, we filed the ICM in 2018 for January 1, 2019, for projects that we desperately need funding for then, too.  So any approval by the Board is certainly a reason to be happy.  We wouldn't be unhappy with getting a project approved.

MR. LADANYI:  And if the Board had not approved that project, would you have gone ahead with it anyway, if the need was so urgent?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WASIK:  So, Mr. Ladanyi, as we said in that proceeding, we were very concerned about the environmental implications of leaking oil, and that we required to move forward with that project.  So, yes, that project was mandatory and had to be completed.

MR. LADANYI:  So where would you have found the money? If you were short of money, let's say, and you were -- where would you get the money for the projects, that's for leaking transformer.

You wanted to go ahead with them and luckily, the Board gave you some money.  You were presumably spending that money now.

But you would have other sources of funds.  You could, for example, on the projects below the threshold, you could actually have the flexibility of delaying some of those projects and spending it on leaking transformers.

Wouldn't you be able to do that?

MR. BASILIO:  We would have to look at our resources in their totality, and reprioritize as might be necessary.

MR. LADANYI:  But that's not a difficult thing.  You would just put the numbers into the copper -- is it called Copperleaf?

MR. BASILIO:  But at the end of the day, that contributes to the ongoing snow plowing, is that we're deferring.

MR. LADANYI:  So on page 53, and I am drawing your attention -- another project that OEB approved, the Bathurst road widening project.  So the idea the Board is somehow calling this snowplow effect by making you apply for ICMs is hard to understand, actually.  If anything the Board has been approving your projects every time you apply for something.  Only a few projects have been turned down.

MR. BASILIO:  So, Mr. Ladanyi, we provided evidence on presentation day on the last two ICMs of what we thought our needs were to continue advancing the organization.

And what was approved -- and while I don't have the numbers at my fingertips, I think those were within the range of if fifty to 60 percent, something like that.

So, you know, there is a gap.  And whether we fund it or not, it's not funded in rates.  It is capital that in our view is prudent to deploy.

I think what we're getting caught here is death by thousand cuts, going into the weeds on various policies.

If we go back to the MAADs policy, one of the things the MAADs policy afforded at a high level -- and recognizing there is a lot of detail underneath it -- to incent consolidation, which the Board acknowledged was in the interests of customers, was a deferred rebasing period for shareholders to recover savings from the merger to pay for transition costs and generally to earn a reasonable return, given that they're at risk for all of that capital.

And the second was to continue to apply for incremental, normal, and expected capital, and that's what we're doing here.

We are not applying for an ICM.  We are coming with an application that, based on the evidence, recognizes over the next five years we're going to have a shortfall in terms of the capital funded by rates of about 250 million, or $55 million a year.

That's a real shortfall relative to what we think our priorities need to be over the next five years.  So we're not filing an ICM.  I mean, we can go and dissect all of these policies, but, you know, in a nutshell this is about the sort of balance that we thought was struck with the MAADs policy and the MAADs decision.

We brought forward a transaction that was going to deliver material benefits to customers that the Board acknowledged.  The Board acknowledged in that decision that we were going to earn about 170 basis points over the regulated rate-of-return, so that is already there.

And the Board also acknowledged, and recognizing it did not approve this, but it acknowledged that in the information we provided we would be coming forward with about $570 million of incremental capital.  Those were our projections at the time.

And looking for over that ten-year period I think 
in -- you know, subject to check, about $160 million of additional revenue requirement.

So at the highest level we're looking for that incremental capital, which is entirely consistent with the expectations we set out for customers at the time we brought forward the MAADs proceeding, that was tested by the intervenor group and the Board, and while the ICM capital was not approved, certainly the transaction was approved with full transparency and awareness of the total economic picture that Alectra was looking at over the next ten years.

This is not an ICM.  There are elements of the ICM that are clearly -- you know, won't take Alectra and its customers where they need to go over the next ten years, so there are some differences, and we recognize those, but what we think we're bringing forward is an application that is fair and reasonable in the context of what we were trying to accomplish with the merger transaction, with what we understood MAADs policy to be at the time, and with the Board's decision, with full awareness of the economic picture.

So I just want to provide some broader context, because it feels like a bit of death by a thousand cuts going into the weeds on these various documents and whatnot.

MR. LADANYI:  Fine.  I get from your answer that this is not an ICM application, but you have filed for a modification of ICM.

And from everything you have said about the policies, I am getting the approach -- impression -- you can correct me -- and I mentioned it during the technical conference -- that Alectra's approach to regulation is what I would call a cafeteria approach.  You take certain regulations and guidelines that you like and you use those and you ignore others.

And if you take this -- for example, I will give you perhaps a bad analogy.  If people instead of following the traffic rules on the highway decided to have a cafeteria approach and say, oh, I don't like driving on this side of the road, I will drive the other side of the road, I'm not going to follow the speed limit because I don't like it, it would be chaos out there.  So the Board has certain rules and guidelines, and you've decided not to follow all of them.  You're only following the ones that suit you.  Is that right?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  I don't think that is correct.  I think that is a poor characterization in terms of the evolution of ratemaking policy.  I think the Board has been quite innovative, you know, in the time I have been here on advancing ratemaking constructs.

Certainly the ones you referred to earlier aren't that old when you think about it, price cap, custom IR, annual IR.  So I think we are bringing forward here something that is innovative, something that is certainly within the spirit of what I think the Board was trying to accomplish, having done stakeholdering and heard distributor concerns, certainly heard intervenor concerns, in resolving its MAADs policy, something that is efficient.  It is a five-year application.

I mean, assuming it gets approved, that's probably about $5 million of savings.  It is savings all of your time, Board time, our time.

So, no, I don't think we are picking the best, necessarily.  I think we are bringing something forward that is very thoughtful and ultimately in the interests of our customers.

MR. LADANYI:  So I am happy to say I am near the end.  I just want to ask one question to kind of tie this all together and then hopefully we can all go to lunch.

So as I go through these different applications, and yours is not the only one, I am always concerned about erosion of incentive, inside incentive regulation, so if you could tell me, where is the incentive to deliver capital projects, for example where is the incentive to deliver capital projects below cost?

You discuss this a bit on page 61, but I would like to have your impression.  So what I look at, your description of CIVA, what I get here is that there is an incentive to spend the capital budget, fine.

But there is -- you can deliver a capital project below the cost that it was originally budgeted.  Where is the incentive for you to do that?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, I will start at the very highest level, and the incentive is the sincere interest in our customers in keeping their rates as low as possible.

If we don't have to spend it, we won't.  And beyond that, I don't know, Tom, if you can -- there's a -- in terms of project management perhaps...

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  So Mr. Ladanyi, in 5.2.3 of the DSP, where we talk about performance measurement for continuous improvement, we're always striving to utilize our resources to the best of our ability.

So on an annual planning practice, not only do we now properly manage and evaluate the execution of each particular project, but we take all of those learnings and roll them into future.

I think one of the key examples that might be very helpful was our reorganization of the way we approached our underground cable systems.

We recognized that renewal of these particular assets required a different approach.  And so we adopted a common model across all of our rate zones and are looking to implement that particular cost.

Another example would be the implementation of cable injection, which is a much more economic rehabilitation practice for cable.  So it is not all replacement.

We have now introduced those particular practices in the west, which is our Hamilton rate zone, as well as in Mississauga, which is an Enersource rate zone.  So we are continuously looking at opportunities, and we have explained several of those events, in terms of our continuous improvement.

So there is a perpetual focus on how we can best utilize the resources.

MR. LADANYI:  But there is no monetary incentive in your proposal with the CIVA and the M-factors which gives you an incentive to bring capital projects below budget.

MR. BASILIO:  So I guess two comments.  One addressing the CIVA and one, I think, Mr. Ladanyi, what you are trying to get to is, you know, what's the behaviour of management here, you know, what behaviour can we demonstrate that supports keeping costs low.

On the CIVA, that's effectively asymmetrical.  We can apply for more capital to a cap of like $9 million over the five-year period, something like that --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Nine million over five.

MR. BASILIO:  So there is no real incentive to overspend.  If increasing revenue was the only motivator here, it is revenue on $9 million relative to the M-factor.

But I think, more importantly, again, if you go back and look at the merger, shareholders put -- and somebody help me with the number here -- $150 million of integration costs.  Those are for the account of shareholders to try and take costs out of an organization in the interests of customers, and sure, shareholders benefit for a limited period of time, but customers benefit in perpetuity.

What we demonstrate in that MAADs application, and we're a long way towards realizing it, is we're going to take about 60 or $70 million out of revenue requirement by the time we get to 2027 rebasing, and predecessors of Alectra have merged and done the same thing.

I think these entities have a great track record of taking costs out of the organization and trying to do what is in the best interests of their customers.

So that's at a macro level.  How we deal with projects at a micro level, I think, you know, Tom has spoken to.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  I really have just one follow-up question, and then we're going to be finished, and I hope it won't be a long answer.

The other side of incentive is accountability, which is, suppose you don't meet your results.  Suppose what you are building is not -- doesn't work properly.  What is the accountability?  Suppose, let's say that you are doing does not improve reliability.  How does accountability look?

What would the Board do if you do not actually meet your results, and when would the Board do it?  Would it be at rebasing?  This is a regulatory question.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Mr. Ladanyi, what we're trying to achieve through this DSP is to at least maintain reliability with the hopes to improve reliability.

The Board assesses our performance annually because we file our scorecard annually.  So if we were dramatically out of line, just like any other distributor, the Board has an opportunity to see that performance on a yearly basis.  It does not need to wait until 2027.

So we report reliability statistics each year.  They are published in the scorecard.  The scorecard is published on the Board's website, as well as our own.

There's ongoing reporting to the OEB, in terms of both reliability performance and DSP -- fulfilment of the DSP.

MR. LADANYI:  So the Board does not see a reliability maintaining, I am not sure that is actually a good thing to do.  It should probably try to improve reliability, but nevertheless the Board can take action, you're saying, in your annual filings?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Mr. Ladanyi, I can't purport to know what the Board would do.

What I am suggesting to you, in response to your question to me of when would the Board know, my point is the Board does not have to wait until a rebasing application.  There is information filed annually.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  These are all of my questions.  Thank you, panel.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  We will take our lunch break now.  We got a bit behind.  I know that after lunch, we have the second part of Energy Probe.  So maybe we can catch up on the second half a little bit so we can stay on schedule.  We will be back at 1:45.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:45 p.m. 
--- On resuming at 1:53 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Please be seated.

Before we continue with our schedule, I wanted to let you know that the Panel has reached a decision on the Schools motion.
RULING

DR. ELSAYED:  For the purpose of this decision, we're assuming that the answers provided to questions E and F respectively being the one about reliability data and the one about rate base continuity are satisfactory.  For question D, about the ROE forecast, we're suggesting that Schools or any other party can pursue additional information through cross-examination.

So I will deal with questions A first, and then B and C, I will combine them, because they're interrelated.  So for A the OEB finds that the financial plan is relevant to this proceeding and orders that it be produced on the record.

The financial plan is expected to help the OEB get an understanding of the reasons behind the proposed increase in capital spending between what Alectra's board of directors approved and what is now being proposed.  The fact that this financial plan is related to a previous application does not make it irrelevant to the current application.

The OEB will treat the financial plan as confidential on an interim basis, pending Alectra's submission on which sections they believe should be redacted.

For B and C the OEB will not require Alectra to provide the requested information.  Alectra informed us that they have not produced any quantification of the difference between capital expenditures that in their judgment would be approved under the ICM process and those that would be obtained under the M-factor proposal.  Alectra's position is that, in their view, all 194 projects could qualify for ICM.  Intervenors and OEB Staff may make specific proposals in their submissions about which projects would qualify for ICM treatment in their judgment and Alectra may reply.

So with that I will go back to the regular agenda and ask Energy Probe to continue their cross-examination.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, could I ask a question about that ruling?

DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we see the financial plan today, in confidence, and get the redactions later?  I heard that the redactions might take a few days, and I would like to use the confidential document to prepare cross-examination.

DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Keizer, response to that?

MR. KEIZER:  The only thing I guess I am concerned about is whether there is anything in there that should be permanently redacted such that it is even unrelated to a complete business interest that is not, you know, before this Board and whether or not that is something that it's not just, you know, not confidential -- sorry, it's not just that it is confidential, it is entirely unrelated to the issue before the Board, and whether that should be a form of permanent redaction as opposed to something that is just simply being redacted because it shouldn't show up in the public record.

So in other words, if it relates to an Alectra subsidiary or affiliate or something else.

DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Keizer's point is well taken, for sure.  But the problem is because it was refused last week they won't have time to do that in time for me to prepare cross-examination.

And so my concern is, I think the better approach is, let us have it in confidence and then, if they want to do some permanent redactions we will give them back.  But in the meantime I will be able to prepare cross-examination.

Otherwise it is effectively untested evidence, because I won't get it in time.

MR. KEIZER:  So maybe what we could do is -- I haven't, obviously, with your ruling had the opportunity to confer with Alectra.  Maybe what we can do is confer at the break and I can come back and report with respect to where we're at.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you so much.

DR. ELSAYED:  That's fair.  Thank you.

Okay, Dr. Higgin.
Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  It is Roger Higgin for Energy Probe, part 2.  Basically my focus on my cross-examination relates to the DSP and the link to both historic declining system reliability, and the focus then will be specifically on underground cable projects in the DSP evidence.

So could we start by giving my compendium an exhibit number, please.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K1.4. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM FROM DR. HIGGIN.

DR. HIGGIN:  So turning to that exhibit, we can pass the index, which is hopefully helpful, and go to the first page, which shows the map of the Alectra service area.

The purpose of bringing this up is simply because throughout my cross-examination I will be referring to different rate zones, and we should all understand where the rate zones are.

So could you just go through Table 5.1-1 and just tell us which rate zones and the abbreviation you have used for -- in the evidence.

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Higgin, the east operating area, which includes the municipality of Alliston, Aurora, Barrie, Beeton, Bradford, Markham, Penetanguishene, Richmond Hill, Thornton, Tottenham, and Vaughan, is the predecessor, PowerStream.

The Central North is the Brampton municipality, and it is the predecessor, Brampton Hydro.  The Brampton rate zone.

The Central South is the Mississauga legacy Enersource zone.

The west operating area includes Hamilton and St. Catharines, and it is the predecessor, Horizon Utilities rate zone.

The southwest, which includes the municipalities of Guelph and Rockwood, is the legacy Guelph rate zone.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  And the abbreviations that we see throughout the evidence is PRZ -- is PowerStream.  Could you just go through what they are when we see them?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.  Sometimes PRZ, sometimes PSRZ, is for the legacy PowerStream rate zone.

Brampton rate zone is BRZ.  The Enersource rate zone is ERZ.  The Hamilton rate zone would be HRZ, and the Guelph -- predecessor Guelph is the GRZ.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you very much.

So my next questions will relate to the historic legacy rate zone system reliability over the historic period, and then I will unbundle that somewhat.  So in order to do that we would go back to the exhibit that was filed in the technical conference, that is EP Exhibit TCK2.1, which is an Excel workbook, and it deals with the summary of reliability and trends.

I assume that we don't need a new exhibit for that.  It will be the same exhibit.  Board Staff, is that okay?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  So if we can turn now to page 4.  It is all very small stuff, because we have to fit it on to one page, but the main things I would like to discuss briefly is, when we unbundle the historic reliability data -- that's the SAIDI and SAIFI -- we do see that there are material differences between the rate zones for both the SAIDI interruption hours and SAIFI.

Do you agree when you look at the table at the top left that the trends differ and some are worse than the Alectra average and some are better?  Do you agree with that statement?

MR. WASIK:  Yes, Mr. Higgin, I would agree that we have a variety of reliability performance based on predecessor rate zones.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  The same would be the same for the defective equipment in the right-hand table.  I am not going to go there because of time.

So then the thing that I would ask you to agree also is that if you look at the SAIDI, just the SAIDI component, then Brampton GRZ (sic) and Guelph GRZ are better than the electric average and, very importantly, if you turn, please, to page 5, this is the spectrum of all of the reliability SAIDI for Ontario utilities.  The source of that was an interrogatory response, EP IRR 4C.

I just want to draw-out the table underneath to look at those zones that we are talking about today.  Would you agree that when it comes to SAIDI, that Brampton and Guelph are considerably in the first quartile of the spectrum?

In other words, they're quite a lot better.

MR. WASIK:  Yes, I would agree that both the legacy Brampton rate zones and the Guelph rate zones, relative to the SAIDI, are in the first quartile.

DR. HIGGIN:  And then it discusses the other utilities within Alectra.  And Alectra itself is shown there as being in the middle, as a Q2 utility.  Correct?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So could we now turn to the table on page 6?  I am just going to now ask you how does all of that background information relate to your DSP?

How does it flow into the DSP and how you determine the priorities where the investments are going to go based on the historic and current reliability?

MR. WASIK:  So, Mr. Higgin, as we explained in the technical conference, we have committed to maintain or improve reliability in each of our predecessor utilities, when we submitted our MAADs application.

So first our goal and objective is to maintain or improve each specific area.

Second, when we examine the reliability, we do go into it with a bit more detail.  And the specifics that I want to highlight is that the point of the Distribution System Plan is to maintain reliability, but we are planning on addressing some of the worst performing areas in each predecessor utility.

So each of the predecessor utilities does have specific areas that are the worst performing relative to the overall system that we're going to be aiming and addressing.

So you have asked me how we interpret this information.  Well, we make sure that we look at the performance of the system, both in terms of relative to previous historical practices.  But overall, we want to be consistent and apply system renewals and system service investments in a consistent manner across Alectra.

DR. HIGGIN:  And as you just said, there is more data, which we don't have time to discuss, related to worst performing feeders and that includes underground cable feeders.  Correct?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  So if we look down now at the table, this is your evidence and we put this together both with your assistance, and this shows the system sub caused defective equipment.  That means outages, SAIDI, that are caused by defective equipment.  That's what this chart shows and then the table above.

The only thing I want to take away from that for the moment is to confirm that excel PL cable is the biggest cause of interruptions on the system.

MR. WASIK:  Yes, that is correct.  As illustrated in the figure on the page, we have identified looking at the five years' worth of defective equipment outages that underground cable, specifically XLPE cable and accessories, are the main contributor to the average annual hours of interruption.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  I am going to switch briefly, but we will come back to it later, to the table at the bottom, which you provided to us.  Thank you for providing it.  This then shows the number of units which will be used by the assets that are shown in the blue bars above, correct?

MR. WASIK:  So just to clarify, Dr. Higgin, is that the graph reflects the historical performance of the assets, whereas the replacement scenario table below that provides the proposed renewal and replacements based on the units of assets in the same categories.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you for that clarification.  So I will be focussing now going forward in a few moments on the DSP and going forward.

But just let's have a look at a couple of numbers, because I think they are important to note.  So let's just deal with cable and accessories XLPE, that row, and look at the total.  Just tell me, first of all, what does the total mean and then what the impact on SAIFI and SAIDI mean in the table.

MR. WASIK:  So, Mr. Higgin, that total reflects the total kilometres of XLPE cable that Alectra utility plans to replace or rehabilitate over the five-year distribution system plan period.

And the cumulative five-year benefit of that is a potential improvement of SAIDI of 0.56 hours.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  For SAIFI, that would be 0.25, rounded.  Correct?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct, the cumulative benefit of SAIFI would be 0.25 interruptions.

DR. HIGGIN:  Those numbers come from, where?

MR. WASIK:  They were derived from the project plans.

DR. HIGGIN:  Were they provided, the impact, by the Copperleaf model?

MR. WASIK:  No.  These assessments were derived based on the performance of the underground cable, which we planned to replace and renew.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So just let's remember those numbers.  This is like the Montreal cognitive test.  Basically, they give you three numbers and then later on, they come and ask you to repeat them.

So they are these numbers, 2400 kilometers.  They are SAIDI zero-point -- what is it?  0.56 and SAIFI of 0.25.  So just remember those.  You are not supposed to write them down in the test, but anyway we will bring them back.

So let's now go back to the other component, which is now the DSP, and pick that up on page 7, please.

This chart will probably be used several times, but I think it is indicative of the scenarios that are available to the company, and the scenario which is the green line here.

So just briefly give us a quick 101 on that, please, if you could.

MR. WASIK:  So the figure 2 reflects a long term assessment of the planned system renewal needs in the system relative to the proposed plan, which aims to maintain reliability, contrast that with a scenario we reviewed with respect to partial funding of that particular plan to assess and evaluate the long-term impacts of taking different approaches to planned system renewal.

DR. HIGGIN:  Just to complete that, the blue bars show asset condition based capital.  How is that derived?

MR. WASIK:  So the blue bars reflect, based on the current known condition of the assets, what the renewal investment needs of the system are from a plan system renewal investment.

And the green reflects the proposed Distribution System Plan renewal investments in terms of dollars, and the purple represent a scenario where a portion of that is funded.

DR. HIGGIN:  So just to clarify, this is the system renewal assets and the system renewal investment.  Is that correct?

MR. WASIK:  So this is a condition-based plan renewal scenario plan.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  Now, the other aspect of putting forward a DSP and a plan is customer engagement, of course, because the Board requires that you do that.

So we had a discussion on that at the technical conference, and I just have a couple of follow-up questions.  Mr. Lyle, you didn't think you were going to get away free today, did you?

MR. LYLE:  No.

DR. HIGGIN:  No, okay, thank you.  So just to give us a bit of background, Innovative Research, Mr. Lyle, you were retained to do the customer surveys.  And one of the tools that you used, the important one that I think, anyway, is the online workbook that you used.

So can you just tell us, briefly, for perspective the total number and percentage of customers across the rate zones that used the workbook?  I think there is a chart there.

MR. LYLE:  Sure.  And the total number is 32,000 between the voluntary and the representative sample.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So, now, can you also confirm, because we had this discussion at the technical conference, that not all questions were put to all rate zones.  The workbook was actually customized.

MR. LYLE:  Yes.  Each rate zone was asked about the spending that would impact their rates, and the rate impacts were calculated not just by rate zone but by rate class.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MR. LYLE:  So there is actually 20 different versions of the workbook.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So, for example, as we will discuss, you didn't ask the questions on underground replacement to Guelph and to Brampton, for example.

MR. LYLE:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  That would be an example, thank you.

So I am going to now go to the workbook.  This chart is sort of a going-in chart that you were given from the evidence that was provided to you by Alectra, and that then you used that to form your questions in the workbook.  Am I correct?

MR. LYLE:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  So on reliability outages, first the customers are informed that reliability is declining and outages increasing.  Am I correct?  In that first page.

MR. LYLE:  Well, what we said was the average number and duration of outages has increased for the typical electric customer.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  But as we've discussed again, that's not true for Brampton and Guelph.  It's not declining.  It is stable.

MR. LYLE:  Well, this page is set up for all the workbooks --


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. LYLE:  -- so it was an average across all of Alectra.

DR. HIGGIN:  So we will come back to them.  Now let's just turn to page 9 of the compendium, and briefly we will look at the response from the workbook that shows the response to outages.  Okay?

MR. LYLE:  I'm there.

DR. HIGGIN:  So am I correct, then, just -- the Panel should look at this and say, you asked all rate zones about outages, correct?

MR. LYLE:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  And these are the recollections for each of the rate zones?

MR. LYLE:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  We had a discussion how good people's recollections were, so we got this undertaking which is shown underneath, JT1.8, and that seems to say there's some reasonable alignment between recollection and fact.  Is that right?

MR. LYLE:  Yes.  Understanding both are messy measures, but there seems to be a general correlation.

DR. HIGGIN:  Oh, so you used the word -- what was that word?

MR. LYLE:  Messy.

DR. HIGGIN:  Messy?

MR. LYLE:  So the measure as we discussed in the technical meeting, we don't know by individual how many outages an individual had in -- all this does is that it brings together the experience of circuits.

So it is a circuit-level measure compared to an individual-level measure.

The other thing that we discussed is important is that at this point in the workbook, what we're trying to do is give people just enough information that they have the context to be able to go on and have another discussion.

One of the tools that we use to make sure people actually stop and reflect on the material that they've looked at is, we will ask them a question about that material.

The thing that basically all of the questions in the front have in common is that we don't generally use them for analysis, and you will notice in the report that we don't go back and use the outage question for analysis.  It was simply used to get people to stop and think about what they had just read.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. LYLE:  And the last thing is just that in the report, because it is formatted by 11, you see the question on a different page from the background, but on an online workbook where you can just scroll down the screen, the questions were at the bottom of the background in every case.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  We will just briefly look at page 10.  We have seen this chart, and therefore we don't need to dwell on it.  The customers were shown this chart, and it outlines what the historic outages were and the causes of them.

So basically, as we have discussed, it puts in big red here XLPE is the big culprit here.  Correct?

MR. LYLE:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So then you go on -- could we go to page 42 of the book.  That is on page 11 of my compendium.  So just a couple of follow-up questions.

Did you tell the customers when you were looking at the pacing, the pacing of the underground cable, did you ask them -- tell them what current meant in cost and kilometres?  Or the base pace.  Did you tell them what it was?

MR. LYLE:  No.

DR. HIGGIN:  No, okay.  And then the accelerated pace, can we just go through that.  And I am coming back to the Montreal test here.  Okay?  What does it say?  How many kilometres?

MR. LYLE:  So if we go -- so first of all, one of the things that we've done before this is that we've asked people whether, to the best of their knowledge, they have underground versus overhead.

And one of the things that we do show in the report is how people with underground react compared to people with overhead.

And it turns out both for the overhead and underground investments and for the rear lot, that it turns out it doesn't make a big difference.  Whether you directly benefit or whether customers generally benefit, people tended to have the same approach.

But what that meant is that if I was someone that said, well, I have underground cables, then when I think about current reliability I think about the reliability I am experiencing.  And if I don't have current cables then I am going to think about overall system reliability.

And so then we then said, what would the difference be in reliability from the status quo, and for the top option we said would it improve reliability cables by 8 percent.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  That is helpful.  I was going to ask that question, but you answered it.

So then Mr. Wasik, sorry, sir, just go back and recollect the 2,400 kilometres.  You knew I am going to ask you that question.  How does that fit with this?

MR. WASIK:  Dr. Higgin, you have asked us to prepare and submit the table on page 6 of the compendium.  In that table you asked us to include 2019.

DR. HIGGIN:  So that's one year.

MR. WASIK:  So the 216 kilometres in 2019 is included in the total, whereas in the customer engagement accelerated it is only for 2020 to 2024, which is the span of the DSP.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  And the recommended pace, just go to that one, please.  Take out or add the 2019.

MR. WASIK:  Well, no, sir.  The recommended pace in the customer engagement is also over the same time period, 2020 to 2024.

DR. HIGGIN:  All I am saying is, compare that, you just went through those, there was an amount that you said 216 kilometres for 2019.  Okay?  So is that how do we get to 2,400 kilometres?

MR. WASIK:  No.  So the accelerated pace, if you add 216 kilometres to it, you'll get to your particular 2,400 kilometres, which is in your compendium, sir.  It has nothing to do with the recommended pace.  You have asked me to reconcile the two numbers for you.

DR. HIGGIN:  I am asking about what would be the equivalent number, then, if you add the 2019 to the recommended pace.

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  So the 2019 is the same number, 2016.  You would just include that to the recommended pace.

DR. HIGGIN:  But that is less than 2400.

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.  The recommended pace would be less than the accelerated pace.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's what I wanted to get at.  Thank you.

So now we come to the other part of the test, just to recollect that what the gains in improvement were, my recollection as I wrote it down, is SAIDI 0.56, 0.056 and SAIFI, 0.025.  Does that relate to which target of underground replacement, which of the three has the improvement tied to it?

MR. WASIK:  So what we presented to the customers is various different trade-offs between the consolidated Distribution System Plan across the entire Alectra system.  So as we explained in the technical conference, Dr. Higgin, this Distribution System Plan is a consolidated Distribution System Plan.  It is for all of Alectra customers.  It is not five distribution system plans that were glued together.  It is one common Distribution System Plan.

So the proposed pace and benefits, as presented, reflect Alectra's distribution system plan in totality.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I will come back to that in a minute.  So could we flip to page 14, please?

You will recognize this, as it was provided in the technical conference.

MR. WASIK:  Yes, Dr. Higgin.

DR. HIGGIN:  Just briefly, the chart -- perhaps we can leave and just look at the graph, because it is easier to assimilate the graph.

And just show us what the graph shows.  I am not really that interested in partial funding, but just for the planned system renewal scenario.  Just tell us what this shows on the graph.

MR. WASIK:  So, Dr. Higgin, this table reflects the overall objective of the Distribution System Plan, which was that Alectra, with the implementation of the investments as proposed in the plan, plans to maintain reliability levels at historically-set performance levels, which reflects that over the plan, we planned to maintain reliability at 0.98 hours and then maintain SAIFI at 1.34 hours.

But I would also like to add that as we planned to keep the overall system reliability at the historical levels, there are areas in the distribution system that are worst performing than the overall system average, and our plan is to address those worst performing areas through specific answer discrete projects that provide a great value to those customers.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  We did the math.  So take it, subject to check, that over five years SAIFI is an improvement of 0.19 or 12 percent.  Or, if you want to put it on to an annual basis, then SAIDI is 14 percent over that period.  So on an annual basis, those would come to 2.4 and 3.2 percent improvements.  That is much better than what you said about maintain, isn't it?

MR. WASIK:  I am not sure.  Can you help me reference where those improvements are?

DR. HIGGIN:  I don't want to spend the time on the math.

What is shown in this table, is it better than maintain; that is all I am asking.  We can do the math.  You are projecting an improvement.  Very good.

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  So we again we need to improve to get back to historical performance levels.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  And is that true for all rate zones, or is that in general?

MR. WASIK:  These numbers reflect in general for all of Alectra.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right, thank you.  I would like to now go to page 15, and basically this is a new workbook that we put together on underground asset renewal.

So can I get an exhibit number for this Energy Probe exhibit, which has got -- it is a workbook which has four pages.  So that is the exhibit that I would like to have marked.

Copies of this were sent by e-mail to everyone in Excel and PDF.

DR. ELSAYED:  Is that not part of K1.4?

DR. HIGGIN:  No, it is not.

DR. ELSAYED:  It's not page 15?

DR. HIGGIN:  No, no.  This is a brand new workbook.  It has totally different information.

MR. MURRAY:  We will mark this as a new exhibit,  K1.5.

MR. KEIZER:  Just to be clear, though, doesn't it still get subsumed with the overall Exhibit K1.4 as provided?

MR. MURRAY:  That's fine.  We can keep it as K1.4.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, it is in two different spreadsheets.  So it's not reasonable to have it into really one exhibit, I would suggest.

MR. KEIZER:  I leave it then in Board Staff's capable hands, sorry.

MR. MURRAY:  Dr. Higgin, would you like a second exhibit number for this?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  I would like this one to be 1.5.

MR. MURRAY:  This will be Exhibit K1.5. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  ENERGY PROBE WORKBOOK ON UNDERGROUND ASSET RENEWAL FROM DR. HIGGIN.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So because time is running, we will try to basically just look at the page here and look at the graphs.

The only one I am going to even talk about here is the underground replacement and rehabilitation abbreviation capital.

You have had a chance, I believe, to look at this.  What can we take away from this regarding the DSP investment in underground assets, the total spend.  And secondly, which rate zones get the lion's share of that investment?  Have you had a chance to look at that?

MR. WASIK:  So, Dr. Higgin, consistent with how we explained this particular situation in our Distribution System Plan, over the last several years, Alectra and its predecessor utilities have attempted to increase our level of investment in system renewal specifically to underground cables, which we have been continually monitoring and are aware and have been seeing an increasing degradation.

And so we have attempted to, over the last several years, continued to increase to keep pace with the deterioration of the underground cables.  But unfortunately because of requirements in other investment areas, specifically system access and in some situations system service, we've had to defer.  And in other situations, funding was not available for these types of particular renewals, and so we have had to defer some of these particular investments.

So what this graph reflects is that over the plan of the DSP period from 2020-24, Alectra plans to increase investment in underground system renewal proportionate to the need of the cable, in order for us to be able to match the deterioration of the cable.

I would like to bring your attention to an IR response to AMPCO 12, which I think appropriately summarizes what the plan of the underground renewal...

DR. HIGGIN:  I have read it.  So basically could you just highlight what you would like to say about that?

MR. WASIK:  If I can ask for the next page, Mr. Wells.  There's two tables that I think are going to be very helpful.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. WASIK:  So the first table reflects the historical renewal rate for the cable, relative to the proposed replacement rate.

So as you can see from the period from 2015-2019, Alectra and its predecessor utilities have been replacing about 0.81 percent of the cable relative to the population, and that's reflected in the bottom row there.  Over the planning period from 2020 to '24 Alectra was gradually increasing that from 0.98 in 2019 to approximately 2.43 percent.

So if we contrast that with the failure rate, which is in Table 2 below, you can see that if we were to combine all of the reliability impacts for the various different rate zones, you could see that we are averaging about 2.5 percent -- I can get you a more specific number in just one second -- yes.  So we are averaging a range between 2.52 percent to about 2.41 percent, with an average of about 2.3 percent.

And so our experience over the last few years is that our rate of replacement has been slower than our rate of deterioration.  And what -- the plan that we put forward allows us to catch up so that we can keep pace with the cable renewal needs of the system.

What this also reflects is that there are specific areas that allow us to focus our attention, and those include the legacy Enersource and the legacy PowerStream, and those are the two areas where the volume of deteriorated cable requires us to have the proportionate renewal investment needs.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thanks for that expansion, but if you just look at the chart, the graph, it shows that basically you've been investing at around -- this is in aggregate -- of around $40 million a year.  And now you are going to go with a greatly increased investment in underground cable.  Correct?  That's all I was trying to clarify.

MR. WASIK:  That is correct, Dr. Higgin, but I would also like to maybe add a little bit of context to it.

On page 6 of the DSP, there's a really straightforward illustration of the reason for that ramp-up, and that's going to demonstrate the exponential increase in the volume of cable that not only do we have to address during the DSP in terms of the backlog, but also what is expected to come due during the planning period.

So as you can see there, Dr. Higgin, the increase relative to historical spending also needs to be examined in the context of what's in front of us with respect to the volume of cable.

DR. HIGGIN:  The asset condition is what we are looking at here.

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  So I understood that that would be taken into account in the program.

So now can we turn the next page, please.  I am not going to go into background because of time.  So I had hoped to have a consolidated exhibit showing the projects for underground cable replacement and refurbishment, and that's what I had asked for.

And over the weekend I tried to put together this exhibit, okay, which consolidates all of that information, but importantly, with the claimed reliability improvements that go with each of the projects.

Now, the capital side is a bit hokey, because I didn't have the capital and I had to back-calculate it, as it says there in the thing.

So all I want to do is to say two things about this exhibit.  It's our best effort to bring forward something, because we asked for it and it wasn't provided.

Secondly, can I ask you for an undertaking that will basically put this list together, which, as you see, is based on Board Staff G-29, and put it together with proper capital and so on and a complete list of the 78 projects that are in the DSP between 2020 and 2024.  That's what this shows.  That is my effort.

I don't have any reason to say it is good, but anyway, we think it is my effort.  So can you provide that undertaking, please?

MR. WASIK:  We can, Dr. Higgin.  Just one of the things I wanted to maybe highlight here is that there are some projects that you have included in your list that is not part of underground cable projects.

An example of that is project 151091, switch gear renewal, so we will go through the list and clean out all of the ones that are not -- you also have a statement at the top that says "list of incremental cable injection projects".

But your question asked for all of the cable replacement and cable rehabilitation project that's in the plan.  We can provide that for you, Dr. Higgin.

DR. HIGGIN:  Just as a subset, because I know this will be asked, indicate which ones you have designated would be in the M-factor component as opposed to the overall DSP in base rates.

MR. WASIK:  Yes, Dr. Higgin.  So majority of them will be in the base rates, but we will signify for you which ones are included in base rates and which ones are considered incremental.

DR. HIGGIN:  While we're on this, can you check against also some of the other exhibits, which would be JT2.2, question one, SEC 2, and of course CCC-9.  Make sure that we do get consolidated list of underground cables.  If you could check against those lists?

MR. WASIK:  We can do that for you.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J1.2. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE THE CABLE REPLACEMENT AND CABLE REHABILITATION PROJECT INFORMATION THAT'S IN THE PLAN.  ALSO TO INDICATE WHICH ONES ARE DESIGNATED IN THE M-FACTOR COMPONENT AS OPPOSED TO THE OVERALL DSP IN BASE RATES.  ALSO TO CHECK AGAINST EXHIBIT JT2.2, QUESTION ONE, SEC 2, AND CCC-9 AND PROVIDE A CONSOLIDATED LIST OF UNDERGROUND CABLES.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  I am nearly at the end of my cross-examination.  I am just going to come now to have a bit of a discussion about the calculation for the M-factor revenue requirement, the allocation of that and, finally, the CIVA account.  That's the scope of the next couple of questions.

So could we pull up page 20 of the compendium.  My understanding is this is maybe outdated.  The reason why I asked that question is, if you look at the second paragraph, is that current?  Or has that been updated?  That says that the request is 286 million and the related revenue requirement is 27,891.  If so, could you give me the reference to the current number?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Dr. Higgin, we apologize.  On line 18, which this is taken from Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 3, at the top you say page 10.  I think it is actually page 16.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  It is a typo, and the numbers should read 21.8 million as opposed to 27.8 million.

DR. HIGGIN:  What's the capital amount, please?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  265.

DR. HIGGIN:  265.  Thank you.

So anyway, just using the correct numbers, the table AMPCO produces the revenue requirement by year on aggregate, correct?  Corrected for the inputs?

MS. YEATES:  That is correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  So is there an updated one of those?

MS. YEATES:  That table is correct.  It reflects the correct revenue requirement of the 21.8 million.  The table is correct, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  No wonder I was confused, okay.  Thank you.

So now what I would like you to do is talk a bit about the revenue requirement for each rate zone, and could you pull up Exhibit 5, attachment 3.  That's the M-factor revenue-requirement summary by rate zone.

I will just let you get that up on the screen.

If it's difficult to find we could take an undertaking once I send my -- give my question.  You have got it up?  Okay.

Can we look at the table that shows that breakdown by rate zone, please?  That's the one.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  It wasn't on purpose.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So this table is calculated under what set of assumptions about the DSP as to how the capital fits in the DSP, that's the 265 is allocated to the rate zone.  How does that happen?

MS. YEATES:  So in response to G-Staff-4, we provided a listing of the M-factor projects by rate zone.

DR. HIGGIN:  Can we pull that up, please?  We are nearly there.  Okay, that's good.

MS. YEATES:  Now that we were able to identify the projects by rate zone, we were able to calculate the associated revenue requirement for each of the rate zones in attachment 3.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So we have that information now.  So what I understand is what happens -- first of all, confirm that Alectra rates are not harmonized.  In other words, their per -- each rate zone has its own rates, correct?

MS. YEATES:  That is correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So could you turn up G-Staff-9, part D?  Just perhaps look at the question and the response.  If you could just look at the question there, in the middle of the screen.  Oops, you just went past it.

So there's the question.  The true-up of the CIVA will be based on actual five-year in-service additions.  That's the 265 you have talked about.

But you say, five-year.  So the horizon for true-up is five years.  What happens in between each year?  Is that all going -- how does the true-up work every year?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  It's not being trued-up each year.

The envelope that we specified, or the envelope and the flexibility was that we have the proposed set of M-factor projects.  They're set out by year and they're set out by rate zone. They're based on our best information today.

If we need to, for instance, accelerate a project in the horizon rate zone from year 3 to year 1, let's say, so from 2022-2020 and that subsequently means that we delay a project in the Enersource rate zone until 2023, we will be itemizing all of these projects in the CIVA and updating annually what has been completed; so what the in-service addition is.

At the end of the five-year period, then we would true-up against what was put into service by project, by rate zone.

DR. HIGGIN:  See my concern is this.  Because the DSP is very big, I mean the number of 190-odd projects, there is going to be a lot of changes going on during the period.

Will you have rate zone sub-accounts in the CIVA, actual rate zone, and then should there be a threshold for true-up if it is exceeded for each rate zone?  That's the question.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Okay.  So on sub-accounts, yes, we would expect that there would be rate zone specific sub-accounts.  As, Dr. Higgin, you confirmed with us, we do not have harmonized rates.  Our tariff sheets are specific to each rate zone. So we would have rate zone-specific sub-accounts.

On an additional threshold, we would not expect that there is an additional threshold.  We have itemized the 194 projects over the five-year period, and we expect to report back on a project by project basis.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So just put it on the table.  The concern is that there will be major shifts from year to year for the projects.  Just pick one project.  Most of them are two and a half five million projects.  If that is delayed or even cancelled, how does that get reflected in the account, and shouldn't there be some interim true-up?

That is the question I am raising.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry, Dr. Higgin, you have seen me consulting with my colleagues.  We've put very specific intention on the projects that we've set out in this DSP, and certainly in the projects that are part of the 
M-factor.  We have to get going on these projects.

While I can see from your perspective that it seems like, wow, these are a lot of projects.  Frankly, this is what we do every day and executing on -- if we don't execute on these projects, as we have said in earlier testimony, we will continue to fall further behind on an aggregate basis.

And so it is the intention of our management to execute on these projects.  The tide revenue requirement is quite small in terms of on an annual basis, but we expect to execute them according to the plan.

We don't see the massive swings that you are suggesting.  This wouldn't be the case of 100 out of 194 projects not happening, or not happening in the slots or years that we've allocated.

We've asked for flexibility because we need some opportunity to move between years and rate zones, should something else present itself.

But in terms of actual execution, if we didn't do the projects at the pace and as set out in the DSP and as identified in the M-factor, frankly, we would get to a point where we couldn't execute any of it because it would have all gone awry and that is not our intention nor what we plan to do.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you for your answers.  I will leave that with you.  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions, Mr. Chair.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.  VECC, your turn.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I was expecting the break, but don't need it.  But I just hadn't passed out the compendium that I intend to rely upon, and I am hoping the panel has some and, Mr. Keizer, if you don't have enough, I have a couple of more.

I don't need it specifically, except for the first one and most of it is just for my...

[Mr. Keizer passes out document of VECC]

MR. MURRAY:  We will mark the VECC compendium as Exhibit K1.6. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM


MR. GARNER:  Good afternoon, panel.  I am sure at this part of the day, you are feeling like answering the questions as much as I feel like asking them.

MR. KEIZER:  In that regard, I wonder if it is possible that we could just ask that the blinds be put down, at least on that side, because the sun is now beating in.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  It's a little hot.

MR. KEIZER:  We have tried to train the witnesses in overheated rooms, but...

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  While that is happening, so as to not waste time, I will just proceed.

The first thing is, and I think it just follows from where Dr. Higgin left off, if you go to the first page of the compendium that I gave you, it is the only thing that is original in there and it is not really original.  It is taken really just from your evidence.

All I did was, and you can see in the subsequent three or four exhibits, I just tried to reproduce your evidence and get to the M-factors myself and there were a little bit of, it looked like rounding differences, depending on where you look in the evidence.  So I said to myself, okay, so how do you do this.

So just looking at the first table, can I ask somebody on the panel is that the calculation of the M-factor request and is that the M-factor request that we're looking at, the bottom line of the first table?  Is that what you are seeking from the Board?

I think that's -- have I calculated it right?  I think I have, looking at the other tables, but just so I can rely upon this. 

MS. YEATES:  Yes, it is.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thanks, Ms. Yeates.

And so one of the things that is clear here is that the way I understand it is the way you calculated your factor allowance, it came to a number in total of 274, but you are not seeking 274 per se.  You are seeking 264.  That's what you have built your plan for, correct?

MS. YEATES:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  And it changes from each year.  Then below that is a table, and Ms. Yeates, you were talking about this with Dr. Higgin.  You said, look, we allocated the M-factor to the different zones, and all I have done is added those up, and those are the allocations that you were speaking about, right?

So just following up, though, from his question, that made me think about this, is, is the purpose of the variance account, no matter what you do, is to keep the proportions the same over the period of time?  So I understand there will be timing differences, but is it -- if you took 47 -- take Horizon's zone -- if you took 47.4 divided by 264.9, you would get a proportion, right?  Is that proportion supposed to remain the proportion at the end?  Or is the flexibility within zones also?  How does that work?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. YEATES:  With respect to any true-up, it is not a proportion basis.  Like, we have identified the projects related to each rate zone, so we will be able to true-up at that specific level and not to, you know, a proportionate analysis.  It will be specific to the projects.

MR. GARNER:  So if I could say it back to you this way, when you go to the G4, Staff G4, that lists all of the projects, it is possible, for instance, that a Horizon project could come underbudget but then one in PowerStream could be overbudget.  It doesn't really matter.  What you're going to do is calculate the overall variance when you're finished, the variance of the whole M-factor projects.

MS. YEATES:  The variance of the whole M-factor projects, but at the rate-zone level.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Now, let me ask you something about the Distribution System Plan that this is based on.  So first of all, just asking about that is, in the Distribution System Plan that you have, leaving aside the M-factor, that new plan doesn't follow, I would -- or maybe it does -- the proportionate allocations of capital expenditure that existed in the past.

So what I'm saying is in the past PowerStream might have been 60 percent and Horizon might have been 30 percent, whatever it was.  That's not necessarily how the Distribution System Plan is planned now, is it?  It is planned on the basis of priorities, isn't it, Mr. Wasik?

MR. WASIK:  Yes, that's correct, Mr. Garner.  It is a bottom-up brand-new plan that was developed based on identified needs and customer preferences and priorities.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Okay.  So when you're -- so it is possible that the amount of asset growth or renewal going into different zones is changing over time as part of the plan.  That is just the nature of the way the plan was developed.

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.  It is going to adapt and reflect as the needs are anticipated in our plan.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Now, the other thing is, just looking at the line in the first table that says "total CAPEX" in bold -- it's the fourth line down from the different things -- that is the number, I take it, that is the entire Distribution System Plan funding, right?  It's the full-funded plan or -- not funded at the moment.  But the full plan?  All of the dollars for the full plan?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  And it incorporates your adjustment to, you know, your original plan, where you reduce certain things after you get input or you change them around after you've got input.  So it is your final plan as funded, right?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

MR. WASIK:  Just to clarify, Mr. Garner, it is the total plan as required.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So the purpose of the M-factor in this case -- well, the final table, actually, Dr. Higgin brought up, that is just a revenue requirement.  You confirmed what I wanted to know, which is, is that the number you are relying on.  That is the only reason it is there.

So the purpose of the M-factor or what the M-factor does in essence is it funds the entire new Distribution System Plan or the unfunded portion of it.  It takes what -- what isn't embedded in rates and it basically makes sure that you can fund the remainder of the Distribution System Plan, correct?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And that's why -- and I will be talking about it too -- is although there are issues of reliability that are being spoken about explicitly, there are also other projects in there that are not directly related to reliability, and what I mean by that is, you know, trucks, they're not like lines, and they don't directly deal with reliability, right?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  And that's, can I suggest to you, what makes it a little bit -- or a lot different than, let's say, an ICM approach to something, because the ICM approach to something is, at least -- and I am going to come back to this -- of what ICM we're talking about, let's say an ICM done by a normal utility coming in on a cost-of-service basis just to do something and doing an ICM within it.  The Board there is funding what they call extraordinary and discrete types of projects, things that come up out of the ordinary or large and something.  Right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  In our view, the incremental capital funding -- so I am not comparing to another utility, but the incremental capital funding will be for normal and expected capital.

MR. GARNER:  I am going to get to where your position is on -- and I know it has to do with the merger policies also, but I don't -- I am really looking at the way, if you would come in as Horizon before this or in your experience looking at other utilities or in fact looking at your own last application where the Board approved, for instance, your projects on the basis of the -- I think the transformer ones that you needed to get done that had PCB replacement, et cetera, but they declined to provide funding for Rometown, which was a rebuild of a distribution inc.  There was a very discrete project and discrete need.

And that's not what your list of M-factor projects are like at all.  In some ways I see it as the reverse of that, isn't it?  They're not high -- they're actually not prioritized as the highest projects that needed to get done.  They're prioritized, in fact, by their place in the order of the projects of need.  So they actually come toward the end, not the front of that need.  Isn't that the way it works?

MR. WASIK:  Not in all circumstances, Mr. Garner.  The way that we examined what is put into base rates and what was put into the M-factor was done after the DSP was built.

So I think that is very helpful to understand that, is we built the entire DSP, and we looked at the outcomes of the entire DSP first.

And then when we examined what was available in existing funding we recognized that the entire DSP couldn't be implemented as being proposed.  And so how we prioritized what projects were considered to be put into the base rates is that we looked at the various different scores and needs of the projects when we evaluated the business cases.

There may be some projects in there, in the M-factor project listings, that will have to move forward because they are mandatory, and those, although they're not high in terms of the score of the benefits and risks, may have to move forward.  Examples of that might be the CCRA payments.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  I will come back to that.  Let me, though, go on to where Ms. Butany-DeSouza was speaking about the ICM and the way you see it different.

If you go to tab 2 and the first page, it is your evidence of the differences between the ICM and your 
M-factor.

And we spoke about this, I think, a bit at the technical conference, but the way I saw the biggest difference here is the specific project approach versus your envelope approach to it, which in a sense goes to, I think, the issue, Mr. Wasik, you and I are speaking to.  Your approach, the M-factor approach, is looking at the DSP as an envelope among the rate zones and funding your DSP.  It's not looking at it like a specific project approach.

That's a fundamental difference from the Board's ICM approach, isn't it?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  In our view, what we've put forward is a list of discrete projects for which there is a priority for investment and for which there is a need identified, substantiated, and tested with customers through the DSP process, and it's that list of projects that we're bringing forward for M-factor.

MR. GARNER:  Well, it doesn't seem that way, and I don't want you to think I am trying to trap you into something.  I am actually trying to figure out what's happened.

So what I understand has happened -- and I think below here, you’ll see a response that you gave to Staff about the difference between the ICM, et cetera and that.

But as I understand it and from what I understand at the technical conference -- and you tell me if I am 
wrong -- but as I understand it, it works kind of like this -- your understanding.  I want to see it through your eyes.

Your eyes are basically like this, we came to the Board with a merger proposition.  And in that proposition, it was our understanding that under the Board's MAADs guidelines, the Board had made a nuanced change to the ICM. And the nuanced change it made to the ICM was that it would fund and allow to be funded projects that would be in the normal course of business, so to speak, as opposed to the ICM that the utilities doing cost of service were encountering.

Then to further that, in -- sorry, your next decision the Board came out with, the next two decisions, the Board actually gave you decisions that made you pause and say that that's not what their decision is giving us.  It is not giving us what we thought was going to be the policy out of the MAADs agreement.

Am I wrong?  Or can you tell me if that is the way you see it?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Let me start with that you said that it is a nuanced difference. We definitely don't see it as a nuance.

MR. GARNER:  Don't hang on the word, but it is a difference.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  In a proceeding like this, words matter and they certainly matter in terms of our interpretation or our understanding.

Recognizing that the past is the past and that we have a consolidated DSP before the Board and specific circumstances -- which I will come to in a minute -- but we do see it as a distinction in the MAADs policy and the MAADs handbook.

And the reason I say let's pause on the word nuance, is because if it was just a throwaway term, just random difference or just a word that had been included but not with specificity, then in our view, the Board wouldn't have taken the time to, one, spend a lot of time in the MAADs policy on the challenges that consolidating distributors or not consolidating distributors were experiencing, and to identify in that MAADs policy that the Board was specifically trying to address those concerns.

And in fact, it is on that basis that Alectra's predecessors, that the applicants that formed at the time LDC Co. brought forward that application, that there was an opportunity to address the incremental capital funding, we couldn't live without incremental funding throughout the rebasing deferral period.

Then of course there was the extension of the rebasing deferral period from five to 10-years, the Board also recognizing the concern of intervenors and its duty towards customers in general that there shouldn't be a wind fall.

So in extending that rebasing deferral period, introducing an EM&V.  So protecting customers in two fashions, as far as we're concerned  One, the ability of their utility to invest and also the ability to extend the rebasing deferral period because that was also necessary for distributors that were consolidating, in order to recover transition and transaction costs and realize synergies over that time period.

So when I say that the Board spent time on it, they spent time on it describing the challenge in EB-2014-0138.  That's the March 2015 MAADs policy.  And they, under the heading "OEB policy", on page 9 of that document, indicated that a distributor may now apply for an ICM that includes normal and expected investments.

And then, some nine months later, the Board released the MAADs handbook, January 9th, 2016, and in that document again specified that normal and expected capital would be funded.

And that consolidating contractor distributors, page 17, should not be -- with the ability to finance capital investments during the deferral period without being required to rebase earlier than planned.

And so I have taken a lot of time, Mr. Garner, but again I really --


MR. GARNER:  I certainly shouldn't have used the word nuance, I can tell you.

[Laughter]

I am not debating that.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  But then you have taken me to G-Staff-18, and that is where we set out why the ICM does not work for us.

MR. GARNER:  I am not debating that and it was a bad choice of words, because obviously it is a sore point for the utility.  I don't mean that in a bad way.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sure.

MR. GARNER:  What I am trying to get to is you had an interpretation, and you’ve explained it very well, the interpretation that you had taken from the MAADs policy.

But I am correct that then the subsequent two Board decisions dissuaded you of that, in the sense that it didn't seem to be happening in the way you had anticipated that to happen, isn't that correct?

That you were taken aback, let's say, by that.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So this is a response to how to address that, I mean as a way to address the issue that you still have, which is funding.  I am not trying -- I am just trying to understand what you did.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Right.  So I think it is a way to address where we find ourselves, which is we've drafted a full and complete Distribution System Plan from the bottom-up, as Mr. Wasik has referred to earlier; this isn't a stitching-together of five prior DSPs.

So with that thoughtful and deliberate exercise, we find ourselves with a capital funding gap. And --


MR. GARNER:  No, I understand that.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  So the reason why we seek the M-factor then is because, not dissimilar from another distributor filing a Distribution System Plan, obviously that is a bridge to somewhere.  We have identified that there's a capital -- that there are capital expenditures that need to be made, but at the same time are identifying that we’ve got a gap that we need to address.

MR. GARNER:  Can I address one of those, because this is another point I wanted to raise.  One of the other things that you raised and I actually quoted -- I think it’s in G-Staff-18 and I can read pack to you what it says in quotes:
"Because the OEB determined that the ICM required application of an additional test for determining investment eligibility, the OEB -- then space -- the OEB applied its judgment to consider whether each capital project proposed by ICM funding was significant relative to Alectra's total capital budget, not," and this is the important part, "not relative to the capital budgets identified for each rate zone."


In this application, you have kind of addressed the rate zone issue by putting together a holus-bolus Distribution System Plan, haven't you?  Isn't that partly to address that issue?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  So that part of it, you have taken -- and,
Mr. Basilio, we had this conversation at the technical Conference, but I don't think I got -- I didn't get the answer I am looking for.  So I am going to try it again and see how well I do this time.

Let's say the Board looking at your application right now was inclined to say, well, we may not agree with you but we certainly understand what the issue is.

And therefore, we are inclined to accommodate or make some accommodations towards what your needs are, maybe not a whole hundred percent, or something like that.

My question to you was, the decisions of the Board that dissuaded you of this policy were made prior to Guelph Hydro being acquired by you.  So my question to you was, why would the Board then lend that discretion it might be doing in this case to Guelph, when I suggested to you that you entered your Guelph acquisition to what I’d call eyes wide open.

Why would that become part of this plan?

MR. BASILIO:  The Guelph transaction did not rely very significantly on ICM to make the economics work.

MR. GARNER:  But that argues -- that says if the Board is inclined to find a compromise, then it could inclined to say well it’s not material and you did know about that one before we entered, so really we don't have any real obligation, if they have an obligation, although I don't think the Board does.  But if the Board feels it is obligated, it may not need to extend it to Guelph.

They're small, in any event.

MR. BASILIO:  I think we’re trying to come -- I mean, what you're suggesting is isolate this because, you know, this rule changed and so you should really exclude it.

I would probably come back to -- Mr. Janigan actually asked a question on presentation day, and I think it was something to the extent of is it this or nothing, or is it M-factor or nothing.

I think where we want to come back to is, you know, we have a concern, a concern that was articulated in advance of the resolution of the MAADs policy in 2015, and that concern was in order to enter into a merger as rate base is growing, to have that growth unfunded is a real concern for LDCs.

And so the Board responded with a policy statement that said ICM is available for normal and expected capital.

So philosophically, what we were looking for -- what we're looking for is the funding of that incremental normal and expected capital through the rebasing deferral period.

And that's one of the key objectives of M-factor, and something that certainly differentiates us from most ICM filers or, you know, other filers for incremental capital. It is really in the context of a MAADs, of a merger.

And, you know, as I reflect back on the Board's prior two decisions, and I could be totally wrong here, I wonder, it felt like maybe we lost the MAADs context a little bit.

So we are bringing that back, and I think that is a key differentiator.

The other key differentiator here is, back to my colleagues, and I'm sure you would appreciate and the Board, is that there is a sequential nature to undertaking a lot of these capital programs.  You have to do A before you can do B, C, or D.

And so this is really about trying to get incremental funding, M-factor funding, across a period in order to confidently invest in those steps that are in the DSP.  So hopefully I have answered your question adequately this time.

MR. GARNER:  We're getting close.  We have another hearing, but thank you.  I do understand what you're -- if I could say it back to you, as I understand what you're saying is if the policy -- the policy you believe was supposed to or inclined to allow amalgamating utilities to fund basically their -- the capital budgets, and it doesn't appear to be doing that, and the Board now has an opportunity to do it.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.  It is to try and shape an application to get back to what, you know, what we thought, and this is what we're advancing, what we thought the principles of the MAADs policy was.

MR. GARNER:  And let me ask you about that principle, is that, as I understand it -- and the way your rates are really derived underneath really are two things, your operating expense and your return on capital, is your funding 100 percent of your Distribution System Plan under this proposal, that part of your underlying rates really being supported, right?  The only thing that the customers are gaining on in some sense is under the OM&A, because they're paying for all of the capital.  The capital wouldn't have mattered if they're under this regime.  They're paying just as they would if they were under a cost-of-service regime.

MR. BASILIO:  Subject to the materiality thresholds I think that go into this calculation, but the only thing I'd add --


MR. GARNER:  It's not there.  Because I never understand that part.  Because I thought you were funding 100 percent of your Distribution System Plan.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Less the materiality threshold. The calculation takes into account -- and Ms. Yeates will certainly help me in terms of taking us to the reference -- but --


MR. GARNER:  But isn't that -- I think I understand what you're saying, but isn't that because there is a difference of opinion as between, let's say yourself and Board Staff might say or what other people may say is what the materiality threshold is doing and how much of your rates are funding your current capital budget, I mean, that is of debate, let's say?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I am sure that if Board Staff is debating with me it's going to come back around soon enough or in a couple of days for sure.  But what Board Staff had put to us at the technical conference was the CAPEX.  That's not what's funded through base rates, and there is a difference between them.  And we filed it in the undertaking -- in an undertaking response.

In any event, Board Staff put to us a different item.  So what we're saying is that there is a difference between what's funded in base rates and what the CAPEX is.  So there's certainly that distinction.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So I am going to move on a little bit now to my tab 3 --


DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Garner --


MR. GARNER:  Oh, sorry.

DR. ELSAYED:  -- I will rely on you to find an appropriate time to have a break, because you go after the break as well, so --


MR. GARNER:  Now is as good as any.

DR. ELSAYED:  Now is a good time?  Okay.  so why don't we have a 20-minute break, and we will resume at...

I am being asked to ask everybody to see if everybody can go until 5:30 today.  Of course I will start with the court reporter first.  Okay.  Is everybody okay if we have to go until 5:30?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Can we have a shorter break and not go to 5:30?

MR. GARNER:  Well, I'm hoping -- if I am the last one to go, I am hoping not to go to 5:30, just so...

DR. ELSAYED:  You are, according to the schedule, the last one -- you are actually supposed to continue even tomorrow morning as well.

MR. GARNER:  I think I am going to manage to finish by five o'clock, and maybe if we take a 15-minute break, and I will do my best to do that for everybody.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  so why don't we take a 15-minute break.  We will be back at, according to this clock, 3:35, and we will finish by five o'clock.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:18 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:40 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  So are we ready to continue with VECC?

MR. KEIZER:  I said that I would confirm after the break with respect to the disclosure of the financial plan.  So I have had the opportunity to confer with Alectra.

What I was advised is that we would be in a position to be able to deliver a redacted version of the financial plan by the end of the day tomorrow.

That would give the opportunity for the witnesses that are on this panel to be able to review the redactions, and be comfortable with them.  It is a 150-page document, and people are doing their best to want to do all of those redactions today and then be able to confirm them tomorrow.  But that is the timing that we see right at the moment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I object to that.  That means I can't use it in preparation for cross, which was the whole point of it.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, as I understand it, Mr. Shepherd, you are scheduled for Friday.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So while the hearing is on, that's when I am preparing for cross?  I am preparing for cross tomorrow.

DR. ELSAYED:  Is there any chance you could provide the document by mid-day tomorrow?

MR. KEIZER:  We would have to have a look and see.  To the extent that -- again, because the folks here haven't had a chance to see the redactions, what we can do is do our best to try to do it as early as possible tomorrow and advise accordingly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, why can't they just provide it without redactions?  It is confidential anyway.  And that will allow me to do my prep.

MR. KEIZER:  I think the reason we articulated earlier is there may be elements in there which, in a sense, should be permanently redacted, not just simply, you know, as it would be related to this proceeding and confidential.

I think people will do their best to get it as early as possible, so that Mr. Shepherd would have as much of tomorrow and tomorrow evening and into Thursday in order to be prepare for his cross.

DR. ELSAYED:  Just for my understanding, does anybody have a feel for this 150-page document?  How much of it actually would be material that would need to be permanently redacted versus confidential?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, it's not only based upon Alectra Utilities as the regulated entity.  It is based on Alectra Inc., which is the full entity.  So therefore, it includes both the regulated and non-regulated components of the company.

DR. ELSAYED:  No, I understand that.  I am just trying to think out of the 150, are we talking about...

MR. KEIZER:  I can't answer that question.

DR. ELSAYED:  Anybody have a feel for that?

MR. BASILIO:  I mean, utilities as part of Alectra, so there are a lot of areas where the entities are spoken of together.  There are a lot of exhibits that both have a utilities' component and components with the other entities, some into consolidated totals, those sort of things.

So you almost have to go through the document line-by-line.  There will be a lot of redaction.  It is not simply taking the first ten pages and maybe the last ten.  The entire document needs to be reviewed and, you know, exhibits looked at, redacted, portions of presentations, board report.  It's not a simple ask.

DR. ELSAYED:  And is it usual to have a 150-page document presented and approved by the board of directors?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.  I mean, the process is the audit committee does the heavy lifting, so they would do the most due diligence through the document.  But the board approves the document.  It generally goes with an executive summary, which would be a component of what is produced.  But the board receives the full document, whether they read it all or...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I do note that their unregulated activities are what?  Six percent of your total business?

MR. BASILIO:  It is not really here or there in terms of the process for redacting the document.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It just sounds like the tail is wagging the dog here.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, as the CFO and the one that prepares the document and has for how many years now, I can tell you it is a bit of a task to try to unwind the two, regulated and unregulated, which is what we're going to do.

We have staff working on it now that have pulled away from other things.  Obviously I have to review It, counsel wants to review it.  We have to prepare information around the nature of the redactions for review and consideration by the Board.

I can't -- as you can appreciate, that all takes a bit of time.  And one day, really, is that unreasonable?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I can tell you, Mr. Chairman, that if I get it by noon tomorrow, that will be sufficient time for me to prepare my cross.  I can do other things in the morning.

But after noon -- I mean, preparing a four-hour cross is a big job.  And it would make it a lot more difficult if I don't have a key document.  But noon tomorrow would be fine.

DR. ELSAYED:  You're suggesting you can't commit to that at this point?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  Plus we have other undertakings.  There are other matters that are going to require our attention between now and Thursday's cross for the other intervenors.

MR. KEIZER:  So all we can do --


MR. BASILIO:  We will do our best for tomorrow evening; that's what we can commit to.  I think Mr. Shepherd probably has some time here and there to help augment whatever questions he is going to have arising out of the financial plan.

DR. ELSAYED:  Well, he has until Friday...

[Board members confer]

MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't matter because I will be in the hearing, so I can't prepare cross while I am in the hearing.  That is the advantage of having the day tomorrow, is that I can do it tomorrow.

I frankly am surprised that counsel will say we will try our best, and Mr. Basilio says we don't care what anybody else thinks, we're not going to do it until we said we are going to do it, tomorrow night.

MR. BASILIO:  I don't recall being on record saying I didn't care.  We do care.  I have a team looking at this.  We are going to work hard on it.  That is our commitment.  If we can provide it earlier, we will.

But sitting here right now, not having seen it -- we're in the hearing, too, Mr. Shepherd.  I can't commit to anything earlier than end of day tomorrow, but we will do our best to try and accelerate it.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  What I would say then, as I said in our decision, that it is not just in Schools interest.  It is in the Board's interest to see the plan and to hear the cross-examination.

If that means that we extend the hearing beyond Friday, we will do that.  So I am asking Alectra to do their best and produce the document as early as possible tomorrow, and then we will deal with that accordingly.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Mr. Garner, back to you.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Panel, I am not sure -- there we go.  I am going to go to tab 3, I believe and -- yes, tab 3.  In tab 3, I have extracted the response to G-Staff-2.

Under G-Staff-2, what you have done very helpfully is you have taken the M-factor and you have categorized them by different aspects of what they're addressing in the Distribution System Plan.

But what I didn't see, and at this point and as you appreciate more than anybody else, all of the evidence that's been produced.  The question I have is does the M-factor projects that are given in Staff 4, are they anywhere broken down by their project categories, by the Board's investment categories?  System enhancement?  You know, system -- sorry, whatever the four categories are.  I'm sorry.

System access, renewal, service and general plant.  Are they broken down by that category anywhere, the M-factor investments?

MR. WASIK:  I don't think so, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  Is it possible to do that without much difficulty?

MR. WASIK:  Yes, it is possible to provide that for you.

MR. GARNER:  If I could have an undertaking, then.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J-1.3. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE M-FACTOR INVESTMENTS DESCRIBED IN STAFF-4 BY PROJECT CATEGORIES, SYSTEM ACCESS, RENEWAL, SERVICE, AND GENERAL PLANT


MR. GARNER:  And I'm sorry it didn't occur to me until earlier in this about that.  Again, what I am trying to figure out is where the M-factor projects lie in kind of the perspective of the Distribution System Plan.

And in that vein, if you go to tab 4, I believe, where we actually now get to G-Staff-4, which is a listing by utility -- or, sorry, by rate zone of all of these projects.

And Mr. Wasik, as I listened to you earlier and as we have been going through this, again -- and I don't want to mischaracterize this, but it does appear to me that if I am looking at the Distribution System Plan, the list of M-factor projects are -- and I don't really mean it in this way, but are in some sense the least urgent of all the programs.  They're the ones that come out at the end, not at the front.

Is that an improper characterization of the list of projects here?  When you are doing the Distribution System Plan, if you are ranking your projects?

MR. WASIK:  So Mr. Garner, when we interpret urgency, we look at it in the context of time.  And so that wasn't one of the elements we looked at with respect to identifying.   We looked at it in terms of the overall scoring to determine overall the benefits and risks.  So we didn't really examine these with respect to just time.

MR. GARNER:  But score is a measure of their desirability, isn't it?  I mean, sometimes the score one is potentially more desirable than four.  That's the way the scale works, whatever the way the scale works, right?  So they score less than the other projects that sit inside the Distribution System Plan.

MR. WASIK:  Correct.

MR. GARNER:  So I am looking at the low scores, not the high scores.

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  Which is, if the Board were inclined again to use the ICM approach, I just make -- would you agree with me that in some sense this is the wrong list, because this list doesn't actually score, let's say, the most urgent.

And I want to talk about those later, but, like XLPE underground, this doesn't actually put those projects right in there as the first -- in these -- in the M-factor.

MR. WASIK:  So the majority of the underground cable replacement and rehabilitation projects are in the base rates, so you are correct that the majority of the higher-score projects are in the base rates.

MR. GARNER:  So let's just talk about that just quickly, and I was going to go to those.  But as I -- I am looking at your evidence, and you don't have to bring it up, but it is Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 1.  It is just a list of the historical and proposed investment spending -- I believe it is on cabling.  And it's got a, I think by 2024, $95.5 million budget.  I am hoping I am looking at cabling.  I am not quite sure I am.  But...

MR. WASIK:  Sorry, Mr. Garner, can you give me a reference to that or --


MR. GARNER:  Maybe I am looking at the wrong one.  Yes, it is Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 1.  And it says Appendix A-10, and it says -- let me just read it.  It says "underground asset renewal".

This is out of your Distribution System Plan, right?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  So I think that is the project.  So if this is the -- this is the, as I understand it, the underground cable non-conduit, mostly cable that has to be replaced that you have shown, right, and it has got the level of investment you intend to spend over the period, correct?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  But I would also like to clarify that this particular table includes not only the cable and cable accessories, but also includes switch gear and civil structures, which are part of the underground system.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you, that is very helpful.  It will go with something later.

But now if I am looking at this table and then I look at the M-factor tables that we were just looking at, is there an overlap in these tables in some way?  Are the projects that are related to that XLPE in the M-factor?

There are some projects that sound like they could be cable and some that don't.  It is hard for me to understand whether they are or not.

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  There are a small portion of underground cable and cable rehabilitation projects in the M-factor.

MR. GARNER:  And the reason they would arise in the M-factor would be because they -- while they were like other cable issues you have, they were not as severe and therefore they come down lower in the priority, so to speak, of those cables needing replacement?  Is that how it would work?

MR. WASIK:  Generally speaking, yes, that is correct, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  Can I now go back to my compendium and tab 4, and let's take a look at G-Staff-4 in some detail.

There are a number of projects there that are not -- don't seem to appear like distribution plant-oriented.  So I have one on page 4 of 8 called net zero energy emissions.

I don't know if you see that project.  It is page 4 of 8.  And it is about a third of the way down the table.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Here.

MR. GARNER:  Yes.  You have it right there.  Net zero energy emissions.  It is $1.6 million.

What kind of project is that?  What is it?

MS. SATHE:  So the net zero energy emissions project is about future-proofing and ensuring that when the market and the customers are ready to move on to changing the way they make decisions related to other energy choices at the grid edge, then the utility, Alectra, has future-proofed our distribution system to integrate those grid energy -- grid edge distributed energy resources in a way that is beneficial to the customers and to the grid itself.

MR. GARNER:  I see.

MS. SATHE:  So for example, you've got electric vehicles, residential solar, or solar on industrial commercial and institutional campuses, as well as clean battery storage solutions, et cetera.

MR. GARNER:  And are you aware -- I am only vaguely familiar with it -- are you aware the Board is running some sort of policy consultation regarding these type of projects and utilities doing them, aren't they?

MS. SATHE:  Yes.  So these are very much pilots that we are -- we will -- we will be delivering on.  And the whole idea is to make sure that we have capabilities built and we build capacity so that when whatever policy shapes up later on, that the utility has the technical expertise to integrate these distributed energy solutions into the traditional distribution system.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  So let's go to another one, just a couple I just want to talk to you about.  Let's go to page 5 of 8.  And under the Enersource one, let's take a look at the one called left-behind ERZ, which sounds sad for Enersource.  There's got to be something better than that.

[Laughter]

MR. WASIK:  So Mr. Garner, there is a missing word in that particular project.  It is left-behind cables.

[Laughter]

MR. WASIK:  So let me clarify how that is utilized.  We have introduced cable injection as a possible rehabilitation, and although we plan to inject the specific area, when we get there and we start injecting, we may for multiple different reasons recognize that it is no longer a candidate for injection.  It could be the type of cable or it could be how it is installed that the injection cannot proceed.

That particular segment is left.  And the only option available is to address that through replacement.

So the practice and the process that we have developed across all of Alectra is to plan and properly address those left-behind segments so that the entire area is properly looked after, because if you leave a specific segment deteriorated, the rest of the work in that particular area unfortunately gets compromised.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  But for some reason it comes out of the Copperfield -- Copper -- you will have to help me with the word.  Copperleaf, thank you.  Copperleaf 55 system and your other inputs, and it comes out lower than some other projects that are similar to that.  So it makes the M-factor list instead.

MR. WASIK:  Correct.  That is true.

MR. GARNER:  And much like a Windjammer, which I know is a sailboat, this one isn't, this one is a transformer and cable thing.  Or maybe it's --


MR. WASIK:  That is correct.  It is an area in Mississauga that is a candidate for cable replacement.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Cityview microgrid enhancements.

MS. SATHE:  So again, it is an initiative to understand how microgrids can be integrated into the provincial grid, into the distribution grid, such that there is interdependency rather than the microgrid assets just running independently.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And at the technical conference, we talked about the Alectra drive block chain and that is on page 7.  I am not going to ask you about that.

But what I want to then talk to you about is -- and your explanation has really helped me understand why it is here -- is there is an inordinate number of vehicles, the fleet in this thing.

I have added that up, subject to check -- and you certainly should check it because it was difficult for me to add it up -- adding it all up, I ran about $11.3 million worth of fleet vehicles in all of these tables.  One time, I got 11.5; another time I got 11.3.

But it is, subject to check, $11.3 million.  Does that sound about right to you?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Garner, our tally is about $12.7 million.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  That makes sense, because some of them -- and I was going to ask you about this -- in your list, they actually end up at zero.  But I don’t suspect they’re zero.  They are just rounded that way so they end up at zero.

MR. WASIK:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  You're around $12 million, that’s a little bit different.

Still, when I look then at your evidence on the vehicle fleet that you have in your DSP -- which I have reproduced hopefully the right table on page 33 of the PDF -- and that shows a fleet CAPEX over the period of $48.8 million, right?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  So roughly speaking, that is roughly 25 percent of your fleet budget is being financed out of the M-factor, is that the way I should read that?

MR. WASIK:  Approximately 20 percent, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And of course -- and as I am wont to see in these type of cases, what follows in your DSP is appropriately sad pictures of vehicles.  This one is a very sad picture of a vehicle.

But I guess you would agree with me it doesn't tell me much about mechanically the vehicle.  It tells me it has a lot of rust on it, right?

So it is a rusty vehicle.  Right?

MR. WASIK:  I would agree.

MR. GARNER:  I guess the other thing you can do with a rusty vehicle or one that's not operating well is you can just get it repaired.  You don't have to replace it, right?

MR. WASIK:  As we explained below, Mr. Garner, the concern there with respect to the rust is that although those particular images reflect the rust on the body of the vehicle, the bigger concern is the rusting to the frame and sub-components of the vehicles.

And so these particular trucks and vans are used for industrial applications and work, and so the concern around that is that, you know, when the rust takes -- with respect to the frame and various components around it, it degrades the ability of the truck to do work safely.

MR. GARNER:  Certainly.  I think we can all understand, and some of us more than others, about rusty vehicles and what happens when they get old.

I am simply pointing out that in the absence of the 
M-factor and that being addressed in the M-factor, the alternative for you would be to maintain the vehicle in some fashion.

You either don't use the vehicle -- not this particular one perhaps, which is one vehicle out of a fleet.  But in the alternative of the M-factor, you would be forced either to run less vehicles or simply maintain your current vehicles a little bit longer, right?

MR. WASIK:  So, Mr. Garner, in terms of the fleet, specifically the vehicles and the trucks, in some situations -- well, we attempt to maintain it.  But in some situations, they may not pass the safety standards and they would have to be parked or no longer operationally be used.

In those particular situations, we may have to look at other options, including rentals or other particular elements in terms of being able to complete the work because those vehicles would not be available.

MR. GARNER:  And I'm sure you might be I am not -- obviously different vehicles have different issues and you can maintain some better than others.

I am simply saying that in the absence of capital projects to buy new vehicles, the alternative is O&M costs to maintain older vehicles.  That goes up as you don't replace them, right?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Another thing that was curious to me about looking at this picture, this rusty vehicle, is that -- what was the year that you amalgamated in?  What was the year Alectra became Alectra?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  2017.

MR. GARNER:  So I guess in 2017 as part of that, you were inclined to paint all of your vehicles and -- retag isn't the word.  I am missing the word.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Rebrand.

MR. GARNER:  Rebrand, thank you very much.  Rebrand all of your vehicles irrespective.  Is that what happened?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We've painted a portion of the fleet.  The vehicles in the -- sorry.  We didn't paint them.  Many of them were already white.

The ones in the Horizon territory were green.  So they've remained green and we have just rebranded.  And so attrition happens, then they will all begin to look the same.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Okay.  I guess my question was really about there was some effort put into these --irrespective of their age, some vehicles were basically maintained and now have to be replaced.  Right?

You chose to do that for maybe good reasons; I am not suggesting you didn't, but...

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know that I understand the question.  Is there --

MR. GARNER:  I just wanted to know -- I guess I could ask, but I don't think it is really important.  I was just trying to make the point or ask the question that Alectra chose to maintain certain old vehicles, even though it's now intending to replace them, this being one of them.  Rebranded the vehicle, did some work on it and spent that money maintaining it.

Now it wants to replace it, right, this vehicle in particular, but other vehicles like that?

MR. CANANZI:  Mr. Garner, if I may.  So in response to that, Alectra on an annual basis replaces any number of vehicles. There's a historical capital spend associated with fleet.

And you are quite right, that the first preference obviously, as any good prudent manager would do, is maintain the fleet and you do perform maintenance and repairs as much as possible, to the point where it doesn't make any business sense to continue to invest money into that vehicle, and then it becomes a candidate for replacement.

All of these decisions especially -- we run a very complex portfolio of vehicles, all the way from passenger vehicles, light duty vehicles, all the way to very highly specialized bucket trucks and other associated equipment.

So we've got, you know, licensed mechanics on staff.  We avail ourselves of mechanical engineers.  We do dielectric testing on the bucket trucks.  So there is a comprehensive amount of testing and analysis that goes on before that decision is made to get rid of that vehicle or, you know, need to acquire a new one and so on.

I think also to point out is that once we came together, there was a level setting of standards from across the different legacy utilities to establish a sort of a common basis under which that we would look at these risks, both public risks, employee risks that are operating the vehicle, but also good prudent management practices with regards to either maintaining or acquiring new vehicles.

So that is in the DSP, it is sort of a new-established capital program for that fleet.

MR. GARNER:  I guess the real point of what I am trying to ask you here, Mr. Cananzi, is isn't it true that it's better for you, under the current regime that you have, to have the Board provide you financing to replace this truck than it would to your bottom line if you had to put in more operating and maintenance to your vehicles.

Because the regime you are under right now, you don't really get anything for having to put in more OM&A into your company.  You lose.  The Board funds you for this.  You are covered.

So your incentive is, if I had to choose, get a new truck.  If the Board says yes to it of course, or if they give you the money, of course.

MR. BASILIO:  I don't agree with that, Mr. Garner.  I think our decision is to maintain the asset if it is maintainable, or replace the asset if it needs to be replaced.  That is how we make our decisions.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you. The next place I would like to go is, I think, tab 6.  It doesn't matter, tab 6.  And it really -- and it doesn't matter, tab 6 and tab 7 bring up the same point.  And Dr. Higgin brought this up.

And really what I was trying to figure out from these things is the same thing he was talking about, is if I look at your Distribution System Plan, my conclusion would be, when it comes to reliability or projects that are the most imminent in urgency, that basically it's the underground cabling, and then switch gear and overhead.

And if you go down to the page 41 of my compendium, which shows your health index, you know, you can see basically that -- that issue.  And if you go down to page 43, which shows customer hours of interruption by defective equipment, you can especially see it for cable.  You especially see the cable issue that you seem to have in the sense of defective equipment.

So I am not wrong to conclude that that issue, the cabling issue especially being the primary one, is by far your most urgent distribution system requirement, replacement need.  Is that not -- is that fair?

MR. CANANZI:  In general terms, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Even though it exists mostly in some franchises and not other franchises, right?  It doesn't exist --


MR. CANANZI:  Yes.  Correct.  But we would have to go project-by-project specifics to be able to say which is of greater value or contribution.

MR. GARNER:  So taking a look at that table that is at page 43 -- and I will use that table.  You can use, obviously, your experience.   I look at that and then say, so what's the next big thing that's on this utility's map?

And it's, I guess, the blue line, overhead line, hardware, which kind of goes down, then goes up.  But is that a good kind of assumption of that's the next big thing that the utility is facing?

MR. CANANZI:  Yes, I would agree with that, particularly in the backlog of deteriorated poles that have been analytically identified as being in need of replacement.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So -- and I know you are not doing this, but the Chair did invite us to talk about this about ICMs, and I do want to talk about that.

If in the alternative one were to look at this, wouldn't the -- and I will stick with the cable, the underground cable -- wouldn't that project lend itself to the Board's former -- the policy, I will call it the other one, because I know you dispute how it should apply to you, but the Board's other ICM policy, it kind of meets its discrete -- it is a bit out of the ordinary, in the 
sense -- as I understand your evidence, degradation is exponential and you need to address it in the short-term?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Mr. Garner, you might not be surprised with the framing of my response that begins we're not looking for an ICM.

So at the risk of sounding like a broken record, where we're at is that there is this cumulative overwhelming capital need.  And it's that capital need that we're trying to address based on our understanding and going into the consolidation that there would be a means through which we could fund normal and expected capital investments.

And that's what is comprised here in the entirety, particularly when you have taken my colleague, Mr. Wasik, to G-Staff-4 and the list of M-factor-related projects.

I mean, it is a bit of a Catch-22.  We've been asked previously in other proceedings, well, why aren't these projects in base rates if they're critical?  Well, the thing -- if they're in base rates then you ask us, why aren't you funding them incrementally?  If we are identifying that they are the incremental funding need, then you ask us why they're not in base rates.

And the fact is that really at issue isn't the shell game of A versus B, it's the totality of, we're on a rebasing deferral period.  We are looking for the capital funding to support the Distribution System Plan, and therefore perhaps quite reasonably you get to a point where the base rates only take you so far and then there is the next chunk, if you will, of projects that becomes the 
M-factor projects.  They're not less desirable.  They're not less priority.  But ultimately there's going to be a list.

This is a Distribution System Plan over five years that contains a very big list of projects.  And so the last piece is the -- this unfunded -- a significant to us unfunded portion that we need to get on with.  And that ranges between the fleet items that you were just discussing with Mr. Wasik and Mr. Cananzi, to voltage conversion projects, those items that are very squarely Distribution System Plan.

But, you know, I am not sure that I would parse the one is more ICM-ish or not.

MR. GARNER:  That's fair enough, and I am not trying to get you to accept the ICM.  I think what I am simply drawing you to -- and you can correct me if I'm wrong -- is when push comes to shove you can repair the truck, but you have to replace those cables.  They're not repairable.  You have to get them out and you have to replace them.  Is that really the gist of it?

MR. CANANZI:  Mr. Garner, I would say that in some cases we would have to get rid of the vehicle as well.

MR. GARNER:  And maybe bury it with the cable, but moving along.

I want to go to tab -- thank you for that -- tab 8.  And this goes to, I think what you just said, Ms. Butany-DeSouza.  It is the line -- I think I highlighted it in my compendium.  It is at page 47 of the tab 8.  And -- or maybe I haven't, just done it in mine.

You have in the middle of that -- middle paragraph:

"The outcome of the past two decisions has been to restrict Alectra Utilities' capital funding, resulting in deteriorating customer reliability and increasing constraints on our ability to connect customers."

Have you ever not connected a customer that you need to connect because of some sort of constraint?  I don't mean temporarily, I mean, are you telling customers you can't connect them?

MR. WASIK:  No.  That is not the case, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  Is there a bit of hyperbole in all of that?

MR. WASIK:  What the statement reflects is that there is an increasing constraint on our ability to connect customers.

So we have had situations where system access investments have required additional funding and we had to make some challenging decisions, in terms of how to live within the available funding and reprioritize our investments.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, fair enough.  I want to now move on to a whole different topic, and when I look at the M-factor proposal that you have, I think of it being the M-factor and two or more elements.  And one element is the CIVA account and the other element is the EDC -- the external-funded account.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  EDCVA.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you very much.  And I see those as being comprehensive part of the M-factor.  They're kind of one package.  The two variance accounts work as one part of this thing.  Is that wrong?  Right?  Or is that sort of the way you see it as one sort of thing that you are working toward?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We see the CIVA as a comprehensive and fundamental part of the M-factor.  We very squarely are not trying to sub in new projects, to look for more funding.

We have given you the exhaustive Distribution System Plan, and it is on that basis that the projects come out, and so the CIVA is tied to that.

MR. GARNER:  Right.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Separate and apart from that, as we have seen and frankly discussed in this room over the past couple of years, we are seeing -- Mr. Wasik will keep me honest on this, although I would always be honest on the stand -- what we have seen over the past couple of years is the ongoing externally driven road-authority-related work ties to the PSWHA, Public Sector Work on Highways Act.  And as a result, if we were to only look at those projects, they would frankly take up all of the available capital.

And so given the variability in the timing of those projects and the potential change in scope of those projects, that's the reason that we had added an element to this application, which is the EDCVA.

The fundamental piece of this application, however, is really the M-factor and the CIVA, and those two elements tie together.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So let's just -- thank you.  That is very helpful.  Let's just talk about the EDCVA so I can park it away and -- first of all, as you say, it -- first of all, I just want to confirm, I think we talked about this at the technical conference.

The projects that are attracted to that account, so to speak, don't currently exist in the Distribution System Plan as funded in that plan, do they?  Or do they?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  The projects that we know of are in the DSP.  They are not funded through the M-factor.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So they're in the Distribution System Plan, along with a projection of the capital contribution based on whatever historical event or whatever you have had, that is how you do it?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And I just want to -- this was brought up at the technical conference, and I didn't raise it there.  I thought it was getting late in the day, but we will address it here.

It was suggested to you, for instance, in those agreements with the road works people, that you might not always be negotiating the best negotiation, so to speak, or get the best deal.  Those that are with Metrolinx have nothing to do with you and/or your owners, do they?  You have no relationship to Metrolinx at all, do you?

MR. WASIK:  Metrolinx is a transit agency that we are working with on multiple different projects.  But there is no relation.

MR. GARNER:  You have no reason not to be negotiating your best deal with Metrolinx, do you?

MR. WASIK:  There is no negotiations.  They're not applicable to the Public Service Works on Highways Act.  So therefore, they and the projects that they initiate are a hundred percent capital contributions.

MR. GARNER:  They're a hundred percent, so they initiate.

Now, the ones done with the municipalities, I understood those were like 50 percent.  But there was some leeway, from my experience I've heard, in how people categorize and define certain things.  So it becomes 50 percent of what, so to speak, do you know what I mean?  There is a bit of to and fro about how that works, is that correct?

MR. WASIK:  So for projects that relate to municipalities that have the jurisdiction of the road, we are guided by the Public Service Works and Highways Act, which define how costs are to be shared amongst the utilities and the Road Authority.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, just because I may have confused myself on this.  A Metrolinx project, does it attract itself into this account or not?  Or just the ones with the municipality?

MR. WASIK:  Once again, the Metrolinx projects, the light rail transit, the GO electrification projects, are a hundred percent capital contributions. So there's no...

MR. GARNER:  They're not anywhere, because...

MR. WASIK:  Fully funded by the transit agency.

MR. GARNER:  This is just the municipalities, right?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  So in those negotiations with the municipality, because there is some discussions of the projects, just explain to me how that works.  Is it a group of the utilities sit with a group of the cities and they discuss what the work is, and how the agreement should work for payment?  How does that work?

MR. WASIK:  Typically, the municipality or the region that has the jurisdiction of the road brings to us a notice that they intend to do some road work.

And then we work to identify if there's any current infrastructure that is in conflict.

And then there is obviously a review of the scope of the work and what that work entitles in terms of the electrical infrastructure conflict.  Then we are guided by the public service works or the Highway Act to determine how to apportion those particular costs.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  You make it sound like it is very Explicit, in the sense there is no discussion as to what gets paid for and what doesn't.

But I understand it is a little bit different than that.  There is some discussion about whether this should be paid for by them or you, so to speak.

Doesn't that happen?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.  So we do sit down, when the details of the projects are presented to us, and then we discuss how those particular costs are to be apportioned.

But once again, we're guided by the Public Service Works on Highway Act how to do that.  It is pretty clear on how to do that.

MR. GARNER:  It seems pretty straightforward to you?  I understand.

Okay.  So now let me just talk about the one that goes with the M-factor, the CIVA.  The first thing I noted about this is if we go right back to the table where I put together the first page or first page of the compendium, the first table of the compendium.  Let me just -- at page 3.

The thing I noticed if one is reading it, and I think it was mentioned this afternoon, the variance around that account isn't to the 26496 in this table.  It is to the 27450, isn't that correct?  So you are doing variance around that number, not variance around your M-factor proposal.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.  But I mean it's almost as if it's asymmetrical.  $9 million on 174 projects over five years is very little flex.

MR. GARNER:  I am trying to determine how it works right now.

What I am saying is -- you were saying your M-factor request is 265, I will round it.  But in fact because of the way the variance accounts works is if it is 275, that's fine too.  Right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No.  We would still have to demonstrate prudence.

MR. GARNER:  For sure.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No, but -- sorry, I didn't mean to interrupt.

MR. GARNER:  I just mean the dollars.  I'm saying you're going to well if it's varied around -- if it is 278, it is something, or if it's 270 -- you know, like then it is something.  You are still doing all of your variance around 275, not 265.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No.  I would still say that we're doing our variance around 265.

We recognize that based on using the ICM calculation as the foundation, the maximum eligible capital amount would be the 274 over the five years.

So even in terms of a variance analysis that we would put forward on true-up, if we had overspent, then we believe that we're not eligible for any more than an additional room, if you will, of $9 million.

MR. GARNER:  So do I have this right?  Leaving aside the number, the account is asymmetrical in the sense that if you spent $280 million, provided you can demonstrate its prudency, the Board would allow you to recoup that variance, $30 million -- just using an example to make it easy.  That's how the account works, isn't it?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We were holding ourselves to the 274.

MR. GARNER:  So you're saying that if your actual projects come in at 278, then you are out of pocket from 274 to 278?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  I think we are almost toward the end, or we are almost at the end here.  My next tab -- let me quickly look at this.

My next tab is the last one, I believe, which is tab 11.  Again, we spoke about this at the technical conference and, Ms. Butany-DeSouza, you raised this issue actually earlier today about threat to financing.

I thought we had dispelled that issue because I thought VECC, in VECC 11, asked for three -- all of the debt reporting agencies that you had, and we got three of them.

And in none of those did we see anything, and we've put this to you, that the rating agencies were indicating that there was an issue with respect to financing the utility.

And in fact, in the one that I have put in here, and if you go to page 69, it is clear that this agency is well aware of your last decision and it's the Board's refusal to finance a hundred percent of your request.

Then I think we got into a conversation about the revenue that they're really looking at, whether you can finance your debt through the free revenue that you have.

What evidence are you providing that there's some threat to financing capital projects of the utility?  I don't see that evidence.

MR. BASILIO:  Just to clarify, the concern -- I mean, financing does become a concern, depending on where things go.

It's not a concern in these reports.  I think what we were articulating in the technical conference is not sufficient rate financing to support the program.  So let me provide that clarification here, that our rates don't support this level of capital investment.

This is investment that, you know, we would offer as being prudent and subject to Board ratemaking policy, just and reasonable rates are generally around prudently incurred capital, subject to the various mechanisms and what-not.

Mr. Garner, if you are offering that we suggested we were concerned about where the rating agencies might go, certainly we don't see that concern in these rating reports.  So we wouldn't offer these rating reports as evidence that somehow we can't raise a certain amount of debt to support this capital, which we would have to do in any event of course, right.

Like 264 million, you see the difference between the revenue requirement or the revenue across the five-year period and the value of the CAPEX is a very large differential.  Obviously we're going to have to borrow for that.  So there is borrowing associated with this capital program over the next five years.

MR. GARNER:  And you used the term "rates".  But I put to you that the terms that the rating agency is using, which is FFO, or funds from operations, I think what they're doing, is relatively the equivalent, isn't it?  I mean, they're looking at your revenue stream and asking themselves the question, does it support servicing your debt.  Isn't that the basic calculation they're trying to do?

MR. BASILIO:  That is the basic calculation for agency purposes, but they're very much focused on debt repayment, of course.  We're focused on ensuring our rates are just and reasonable, consistent with the fair return standard, consistent with what we would have expected coming out of the MAADs policy and MAADs decision.  So they're very different -- you know, they're related insofar as our revenue requirement is a very significant source of cash flow, but the -- and help me here, Indy, but I think the $21 million or $27 million of revenue requirement, the differential between that and an incremental $265 million capital program may cause them a little bit of concern, but, you know, it is premature.

They're aware that we're filing an application seeking approval of the M-factor and, you know, we will have a discussion of how that turned out next year.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Would it be fair to say it this way, is that they are less concerned about your returns to your shareholder and much more about the returns to their debt holders and that you can do that, not that they're saying that you shouldn't make money or otherwise, but to the extent that is not the measure they are first looking at.

If you make 6 percent and can still service your debt, it doesn't make -- it is no skin off their nose.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, what is interesting here is the way ratemaking policy actually works is those values are very much interrelated.  So a 13 -- you know, a 13 percent FFO to debt almost equates to the regulated rate of return if you're applying deemed equity.

So I would suggest to you that if the -- if we were showing the rating agencies a return on deemed equity of 5 or 6 percent, we're probably also looking at FFO to debt that is well below 12 percent.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.  And I am glad I finished before five o'clock.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Well, it's not even five o'clock.  So we will just remind everybody that we're -- I think I said earlier before the break that we're sitting tomorrow, but we are not.  Our next session is on Thursday, starting at 9:30.  I would like to thank everybody for being here today, and we will see you on Thursday morning.  We are adjourned.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:32 p.m.
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